gy "

communications

SoundBite:
-

Transforming
Customer
Communications

2007 Annuel

| PROCES py Pecelved SEC

MAY 08 200 APR 2 3 2008
OMSON Re

hington, DC 20549




The SoundBite Environment

Rnancial [[elecon]

VERTICALS
g

APPLICATIONS

PLAIFOHM

The SoundBite multi-channel customer communication
platform provides a robust, flexible, and scalable technology
engine for the delivery of a growing number of applications
and service offerings spanning multiple communication
channels, including voice, text and email messaging.

The platform is supported by a rich array of campaign
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management tools and analytics and reporting capabilities.

Delivered through a Software as a Service (SaaS) business
model, these capabilities enable organizations across
multiple vertical markets to interact more effectively with
their customers o increase revenue, build loyalty, and
improve service, white driving down operational costs.

Who's Using SoundBite

Afni | Citizens Bank
| Asset Acceptance l Clearwire
Asurion Comcast
; Bank of America CVS/pharmacy
1 BMW Financial Services ER Solutions
| Capital One GameStop
Cingular/AT&T Harvard Pilgrim Health Care

JPMorgan Chase Sprint Nextel
NCO ! T-Mgbite
The New York Times TD Banknorth
Nuvell Toyota Fl'lnancial Services
Qwest Travelers
Sallie Mae Virgin Mobile
Staples US Bank

Client list is representative only and does not includv all of SoundBite's eustomers.




Financial Highlights
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SeundBite Communications, Inc. is a leading provider of
on-demand communication soluticns delivered through a
Software as a Service model. Organizations in industries
such as collections, financial services, telecommunications
and media, retail, energy and utilities and many others

rely on SoundBite's on-demand solutions to implement
customer contact campaigns across a variety of collections,
customer care, and marketing processes. SoundBite helps

its clients increase revenue, enhance customer service

and loyalty, secure payments, and improve contact center
efficiency by increasing agent productivity and enabling
agentless interactions, including payments and surveys. In
2007, SoundBite clients placed approximately one and a
half billion calls. Headquartered in Bedford, Massachusetts,
ScundBite is publicly traded on NASDAQ under the

symbol SDBT.



Dear Shareholder:

Fiscal year 2007 was an eventful one for
SoundBite, with major progress on multiple
fronts: strategic, operational and financial. As
a result of this progress, SoundBite is rapidly
emerging as a recognized, innovative indus-
try leader that attracts and retains blue-chip
clients and has a clear, achievable vision for
growth. We are well-positioned for continued
success in 2008 and beyond as we move
forward in our mission to transform the way

companies interact with their customers.

Strategic Progress

Among the strategic highlights of 2007 were:

The signing of new corporate clients. We made major progress
in developing our business within and beyond our traditional
stronghold in collection agencies. Among the signings were such
household names as Bank of America, Allstate, CVS/pharmacy,
Staples and Capital One. Corporate client revenues grew at

an accelerated pace to the point where they now constitute
almaost half of our total revenues. We expect that percentage to
grow further in 2008 as we continue to leverage our platform
into new markets.

The launch of SoundBite Agentless Direct Collect. This autopay-
ment interface seamlessly integrates fully-automated inbound
and outbound calls with a number of market-leading payment
processing platforms. It allows our clients to take payments over
the phone without the involvement of a live agent.

The formation of new partnerships. Partnerships are a key
element of the SoundBite strategy because they enable us to
offer our clients a broader range of services, deliver more value,
and fulfill specific vertical market needs. We entered into agree-
ments with several complementary solutions providers in 2007,
including Latitude Software and CR Software, integrating their
collection industry solutions with our automated voice messaging
solution; and Akcelerant Software, enabling credit uniens and
community banks to run customer contact campaigns through its
industry-leading workflow and business process automation suite
for financial services.

The launch of eur Initial Public Offeiring. SoundBite went public
in November, offering over 5.2 million shares of commaon stock at
$8 per share and raising more than $33.5 million in net proceeds
to strengthen our balance sheet and fuel our continued growth.

The strategic progress we made in 2007 continued after the
close of the year with our acquisition of Mobile Cellect in February
2008. A leading provider of mobile communications solutions

and a pioneer in Free-To-End User (FTEU) text messaging, Mobile
Collect strengthens our ability to offer our clients a truly multi-
channel communications platform. It will enable our clients to
launch customer contact campaigns that span any combination of
channels: voice, text-messaging, and email.

Operational Successes

The SoundBite team did a great job exacuting our business plan
in 2007. The year's operational highlights included:

A major expuansion of our delivery platform. Last year, we
increased our footprint in our Massachusetts facility, built

out a third co-location facility in Canada, deployed a major
network upgrade, and made significant progress in converting
our infrastructure to Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP). With
our VoIP infrastructure, we can optimize call routing to reduce
long-distance charges, increase the productivity of network
operations, better utilize our platform, and deploy new applica-
tions more easily.

Multipie product and industry awards. Customer Inter@ction
Solutions®, the leading publication covering CRM, call centers
and teleservices, gave our SoundBite 6.0 solution a 2006
Product of the Year Award, a 2007 CRM Excellence Award, and
a 2007 Product of the Year Award. Our SoundBite solution was
also named to Collection Advisor Magazine's list of the Top 100
Collection Technology Products of 2007.

Compliance with industry standards, We fulfilled a major require-
ment for our clients’ payment processing needs by achieving
compliance as a service provider with the Payment Card Industry




(PCl) Data Security Standard. We also received an unqualified
opinion — the highest designation pessible — from our SAS 70
Type It auditor's report. This assures our clients that SoundBite
has best practices in place 10 safely protect their customer data.

Fast 50/500 recognition, Qur robust growth record earned us
positions among the leading companies in both the Deloitte
Technology Fast 50 New England and National Technology

Fast 500 lists. The lists recognize the fastest-growing technol-
ogy, media and entertainment, telecommunications and life
sciences companies in New England and the United States and
Canada, respectively.

Financial Performance

SoundBite completed 2007 with record revenues of $39.5 million,
an increase of 35.9% over fiscal 2006. GAAP net income was
approximately $466,000 compared to a loss of $123,000 last
year, and GAAP earnings per share rose to $0.03 from a loss of
$0.30 in 2006. The strong revenue growth allowed us to invest
heavily in marketing and product development while still expanding
our margins. We will continue to make investments that wilt enable
us to grow our expenses at a slower pace that our revenue growth.

The SoundBite Value Proposition

As our 2007 performance suggests, SoundBite offers compelling
value to clients seeking to improve their business performance
using automated voice messaging (AVM). Increasingly, organiza-
tions across many industries are turning to AYM as the most
effective channel for customer care, collections and marketing
applications. This technology provides them with a cost-effective
means of communicating directly with customers on a variety of
topics, from reminders to loyalty programs to late payments.

With all of these advantages, hosted AVM solutions are increas-
ingly supplementing or replacing companies’ existing on-premise
dialing solutions. According to market research firm Tern Systems,
total hosted AVM revenues are growing at a compound annuatl
growth rate of 29% and will become a $1.4 billion business by
2010, more than twice the size of en-premise dialing.

SoundBite has distinguished itself as a leader among hosted AVM
solutions in several ways. We offer a leading edge technology
platform capable of supporting a wide range of applications and
service offerings. Our multi-tenant architecture enables us to
provide our clients with the power, flexibility, capacity and support
they need to effectively communicate with their customers. Our
solution does an ouistanding job of detecting answering machines
and verifying contact with the right party, which helps to make
contact center agents more productive. And with our Software

as a Service (SaaS)/transaction-based business model, clients
are always assured of access to the most advanced features

and services while paying for only as much as they actually use.
We complement these technological advantages with extensive
domain expertience In launching successful collections, customer
care, and marketing campaigns, with a strong emphasis on
optimizing client results.

For our clients, these capabilities and strengths add up te a
superior solution compared to other hosted and on-premise AVM
alternatives. We enable our clients to make better use of both
their capital and their human resources while ensuring that they
are using the latest technolegy. This helps explain why SoundBite
is the clear leader in the collections industry and has recently
seen robust growth among corporate clients.

Perhaps the greatest testament to SoundBite's success and

the satisfaction of our clients is cur high rate of repeat busi-
ness. Approximately 80% - 90% of our business every quarter
comes from the top 50 clients from the previous quarter. This
consistently high percentage validates the recurring nature of our
revenue model.

We at SoundBite have every reason to be proud of what we've
accomplished thus far. But we are really just beginning. Qur
technology is capable of much more. It can support more applica-
tions, more industries, and more channels, such as email and
text messaging. Qur clients’ needs to contact and interact with
their customers more efficiently is both broad and multi-faceted,
spanning everything from service appointment confirmations to
payment reminders to fraud alerts.

As we expand the capabilities of our solutions, what we all know
as AVM today will soon be just one segment of a much bigger
customer communication market. We at SoundBite are deter-
mined to expand our leadership as that market grows.

We expect that 2008 will be even more productive than 2007, a
year that was as busy, exhilarating, intense, and fulfiling as we've
ever experienced. I'd like to take this opportunity to thank the
SoundBite team for their tremendous performance and relentless
hard work. We are also grateful to our Board of Directors for their
expert guidance and counsel in preparing our IPC and helping

to chart our strategic course. Together, we have built a focused
and energetic team, highly motivated and moving aggressively to
achieve our strategic goals.

We are all excited about our future. We greatly appreciate having

the opportunity to share that future — and the value it will create
— with you, our shareholders.

Sincerely,

U M-

Peter Shields
President and Chief Executive Officer



SoundBite Communicetions hes estailished iself &8 & lsader in the
repidly-grewing Autemeiisd Volee Messaging merket by providing on-demeand
selutions thet deliver superior results wile offerng signiicant: techinologcal
and cost adventagss over similer and on-premise selviions. This hes enelisd
SeundEte to atiract & blue-chip list of cients and achieve & coMpouncss
annuel! revenue growth s of 86% over the pest ive yeers.

SoundBite's strategy is to build on this strong

foundation in the following four ways:

Broadening Applications and
Expanding Vertical Markets.

During 2007, SoundBite continued
its strength amongst collections
agencies while accelerating
penetration in a variety of customer
communication applications such
as marketing, customer care, loyalty
and retentlon. The need for these
applications spans a broad range of
vertical markets, including financial
services, tzlecommunications and
media, retail, and energy and utilities.
SoundBite has undertaken a variety
of sales, marketing, and technol-
ogy initiatives to better support
these appllcations and address to
new markets,




Supporting Additional

Channels of Communication.

Building on its strength in AVM, the
SoundBite technology platform is
capable of supporting additional
channels of communication, including
text messaging, Free-To-End-User
text messaging and email. By expand-
ing our service offerings into these
other channels, SoundBite will enable
its clients to develop and conduct
integrated, muiti-channel communi-
cation campaigns that leverage the
advantages of all channels to achieve
optimal results.

Increasing Penetration of
Existing Clients.

Adding to the strength of our
transaction-based revenue model,
SoundBite enjoys a very high degree
of repeat business. In 2007, 90%
of SoundBite revenues came from
its existing 200+ clients. SoundBite
seeks to fulfill more of its clients’
needs by continuously adding new
product and service offerings,
introducing additional applications
and becoming a substitute for, or
supplement to, alternative methods
of communication.

Pursuing Acquisitions and

Partnerships.

Acquisitions and partnerships will
provide us with new capabilities

to offer our clients, new vertical
market opportunities, and new ways
to expand our client base. In 2007,
partnerships brought us new payment
gateway services and a stronger pres-
ence in financial services, and our
2008 acquisition of Mobile Collect
strengthened our mobile communica-
tions offerings. As we consider
additional partnerships and acquisi-
tions, we will seek opportunities

that offer customer base expansion,
deliver new products and services
and add domain expertise to fuel
SoundBite's continued growth,
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Forward-Looking Information

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains, in addition to historical information, forward-looking
statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including information
relating to revenues generated from our on-demand AVM service to businesses, governments and other
organizations, our efforts to expand our presence in collection agencies and large in-house, or first-party,
collection departments, expecied increases in cost of revenue, our expected gross margins for future periods,
our spending on research and development, our ability to remain competitive and achieve fitture growth,
information with respect 1o other plans and strategies for our business and Jactors that may influence our
revenue for the fiscal quarter of 2008 and thereafter. Words such as “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” *

LERT] 3% 4

‘plan,”
“believe,” “seek,” “estimate” and variations of these words and similar expressions are intended to identify
our forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are nol guarantees of future performance
and involve risks and uncertainties including those described in “Item 1A — Risk Factors" and elsewhere in
this annual report and that are otherwise described from time to time in our Securities and Exchange
Commission reports filed after this report. The forward-looking statements included in this annual report
represent our estimates as of the date of this annual report. We specifically disclaim any obligation to update
these forward-looking statements in the future, except as specifically required by law or the rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission. These forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as
representing our estimates or views as of any date subsequent to the date of this annual report.




PART 1

Item 1. Business
Overview

SoundBite Communications is a leading provider of on-demand automated voice messaging, or AVM,
solutions. Using a web browser, organizations can employ our service to initiate and manage customer contact
campaigns for a variety of collections, customer care and marketing processes. Our service is designed to help
organizations increase revenues, enhance customer service and retention, and secure payments by improving
their customer contact processes. Our service is designed to improve a contact center’s efficiency by increasing
the productivity of contact center agents and facilitating the use of “agentless™ transactions.

Our service is provided using a muiti-tenant architecture, which enables a single customer communica-
tions platform to serve all of our clients cost-effectively. To use our service, an organization does not need to
invest in or maintain new hardware, pay licensing or maintenance fees for additional software, or hire and
manage dedicated information technology staff. As a result, a new client can begin using our service within a
few days. We provide our service under a usage-based pricing model, with prices calculated on a per-minute
or per-message basis. Because we implement new features, complementary services and service upgrades on
our platform, they become part of our service automatically and can benefit all clients immediately. Qur secure
platform is designed to serve increasing numbers of clients and growing demand from existing clients,
enabling the platform to scale reliably and cost-effectively. Clients used our service to place nearly 1.5 billion
calls in 2007, and our service currently has the capacity to initiate more than 21 million calls each day.

Since January 1, 2007, our service has been used by more than 200 organizations in a variety of
industries, including the collection agencies, financial services, retail, telecommunications and utilities
industries. In 2004, we began concentrating our sales and marketing activities on the collection process, and
more recently we have targeted third-party collection agencies and debt buyers in the collection agencies
industry as well as large in-house, or first-party, collection departments of businesses in other industries. Our
sales force focuses on demonstrating the benefits of an on-demand solution and the potential return on
investment from the use of our service. Our client base includes 14 of the 20 largest collection agencies in
North America.

Industry Background and Trends

» Improving the customer contact process is a key strategy by which businesses, governments and other
organizations achieve their goals and objectives. Businesses, for example, seek to increase revenue, drive
market share and enhance customer relationships by optimizing their customer contact processes. Organiza-
tions rely on combinations of in-house and outsourced resources to execute inbound and outbound customer
communications campaigns using a variety of channels such as direct mail, e-mail, text messaging, web and
voice.

The efficacy and cost-effectiveness of each channel vary dramatically, depending on whether the channel
is being used for marketing, customer care or collections. Direct mail is a well-established channel for
outbound marketing communications, but is slow, inflexible and relatively expensive. E-mail is an inexpensive
and timely channel for customer care, but e-mails may be filtered by a recipient’s “spam’™ blocking technology
or disregarded by a recipient wary of e-mails potentially “phishing” to acquire sensitive information
fraudulently. Text messaging has the potential to be an inexpensive channel for some customer care
communications, but an organization can reach only those customers who have enabled text messaging and
have opted o receive text messages from that organization. The web is a highly interactive, inexpensive
channel for marketing and customer care, but is limited to inbound communications. The ubiquity and
familiarity of the telephone make it a highly effective medium for all types of customer interactions, but
organizations historically have encountered significant challenges in managing the individuals required to
execute a telephone campaign.




Inefficiencies of Contact Centers

For most large organizations, in-house or outsourced conltact centers are the hub of customer service
efforts and are responsible for managing a wide variety of tetephone campaigns and other customer
communications. Contact centers facilitate both interactive communications, which involve a contact center
agent and a customer, and one-way messages, in which an agent leaves a notification on a customer’s
answering machine. The use of agents has several inherent drawbacks:

« Cost. Contact cenlter agents are expensive 10 hire, train and retain and also require facilities and
infrastructure with associated additional expense. Accenture estimated, as of 2000, that the call center
industry spends 60% of its annual budget on human resource expenses, including paymg from $4,000
te nearly $7,000 to hire :ind train a new agent.

» Capacitv. A contact center agent can handle only a limited number of calls per hour. In order to
maintain service levels during peaks in usage, a contact center must hire additional agents, who are
likely to experience significant down time during slower periods.

s Productivity, Contact center agents routinely spend time unproductively, leaving voice messages,
getting a busy signal or no answer, connecting to the wrong individual, or waiting to connect with a
customer.

* Customization. Contact center agents cannot provide the customer-by-customer personalization that an
organization might desire for a campaign, and organizations typicalty are unwilling to incur the agent
retraining costs necessary to test alternate approaches either before or during a campaign.

* Quality. Widely varying levels of agent skill and experience and high rates of wrnover make it
difficult for a contact center to deliver high quality customer interactions uniformly and consistently. In
August 2005 destinationCRM.com estimated that contact centers turnover, on average, 40% of their
agents each year.

Organizations have invested in automation technologies such as interactive voice response, or IVR,
systems and predictive dialers to improve contact center efficiencies, with varying degrees of success. IVR
systems enable an inbound caller to select options from a voice menu and otherwise interact with the phone
system. Contact centers generally use IVR systems to identify the service a customer wants, 1o extract numeric
information, and to provide answers to simple questions such as account balances’ Although highly static, an
IVR enables a contact center to handle a range of predefined interactions without involvement by any contact
center agent.

For outbound calls, predictive dialers automatically dial batches of telephone numbers, detect how the
calls are answered, and then disengage if the number is busy, if the call is unanswered or, in some
circumstances, if the call reaches an answering machine. Predictive dialers improve agent productivity by
increasing the percentage of time an agent spends talking and, as a result, increasing the number of calls the
agent can handle. Moreover, predictive dialers are capable of delivering consistent one-way communications
without agent involvement. Predictive dialers fail, however, to address several of the key limitations faced by
contact centers:

» Cost. Predictive dialers require a significant upfront investment in hardware and software, as well as
recurring expenditures for maintenance and, in some cases, dedicated information technology, or IT,
staff. A predictive dialer subsequently may need to be upgraded or replaced in order to take advantage
of a newly available technology.

» Capacity. Ahthough predictive dialers increase the number of interactive calls a contact center agent
can handle each hour, the number of calls by an agent remains limited. Moreover, the number of one-
way messages deliverable by a predictive dialer is limited by the telephony infrastructure of the contact
center.

* Productivity. While predictive dialers automate the dialing process and reduce the idle time of contact
center agents, they introduce new drawbacks. Call recipients frequently hang up during the “dialer
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pause” that occurs while a predictive dialer locates an available agent, and predictive dialers often fail
to detect answering machines correctly.

» Interaction limitations. Predictive dialers do not address the inherent inability of contact center agent
interactions to provide organizations with the consistency, customization and uniform quality typically
required for an effective campaign.

Emergence of IP-Enabled Contact Centers

The vast majority of predictive dialers have been installed on premise, and they face substantial
challenges in responding to technological advances. Most existing predictive dialers will require: replacement
or significant upgrades before a contact center can address the two key trends currently affecting the contact
center industry.

First, organizations are replacing the legacy analog voice infrastructures in their contact centers with
Voice over Internet Protocol, or VolP, telephony, a software-based technology that enables the routing of voice
traffic over the Internet or any other IP-based network. Organizations must transition to VoIP in order to
realize the reduced costs and other benefits of IP-based communications. VolP, for example, facilitates easier
access to customer interaction information, which allows organizations to extend their customer service
functions beyond traditional contact centers.

In addition, organizations have begun to supplement their on-premise contact center staff with remote
agents operating from their homes. By employing remote agents, organizations can reduce costs while
addressing operational issues such as high real estate costs, depletion of local labor pools, staff retention and
the need for multi-lingual staff.

Opportunities for Automated Voice Messaging Solutions

Organizations need a comprehensive solution for automating the outbound communication process. In the
past few years, AVM has emerged as a potentia! solution to the critical issues facing contact centers. ' Based on
our review of third-party reports and other information, we estimate that the market for AVM solutions will
increase from $370 million in 2005 to $1.4 billion in 2010, representing a compounded annual growth rate of
30.5%. For an AVM solution to be effective, it must increase contact center efficiencies not only by further
increasing the productivity of contact center agents, but also by facilitating “agentless™ interactions where
appropriate, The AVM solution must be delivered and deployed quickly and cost-effectively in order to meet
the fast-changing requirements of the contact center market, It also must have a flexible, robust architecture
capable of responding to — and taking advantage of — current and future technological advances and contact
center trends.

Our Solution

We believe our use of an on-demand delivery model addresses the growing demand for enterprise and
other software that is delivered on a usage basis, rather than purchased or licensed. A May 2006 IDC report,
for example, estimates that the market for on-demand software, of which the market for on-demand AVM
solutions is a subset, will grow from $2.0 billion in 2005 to $4.6 billion in 2010, a compounded annual growth
rate of 18.0%.

Using a web browser, clients use our service to initiate and manage campaigns for a variety of collections,
customer care and marketing processes. We assist clients in selecting service features and adopting best
practices that will help them make the best use of our service. We selectively offer performance and predictive
analytical capabilities to assist clients in improving the design and execution of their campaigns. Our secure
platform is designed to scale reliably and cost-effectively. Clients used our service to place nearly 1.5 billion
calls in 2007, and our service currently has the capacity to initiate more than 21 million calls each day. We
believe our clients achieve a demonstrable return on investment because our service improves their contact
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center productivity without the need for an investment in hardware or software. Key benefits of our service for
clients include:

Lower total cost of ownership. Qur service, unlike an on-premise system, does not require clients
to invest in or maintain new hardware, pay licensing or maintenance fees for additional software, or hire
and manage dedicated IT staff. In addition, because new features and upgrades are implemenied on our
platform, they become part of our service automatically and benefit clients immediately.

Improved contact center agent productivity. Our service improves agent performance by screening
wrong parties, answering machines and other non-productive calls, which constitute a majority of
outbound calls. As a result, an agent using our service can handle approximately three times as many
customer interactions each hour as an agent using a predictive dialer. Agent productivity is further
increased as a result of our proprietary algorithm for answering machine detection, which enables our
service to determine with 98% accuracy whether a call has been answered by a machine or a person. Our
service does not involve any “dialer pause,” and therefore fewer call recipients hang up prior to engaging
with an agent. .

Enhanced agentless interactions. Clients can avoid the expense of contact center agents by using
our service to automate certain customer interactions. Some interactions are well suited to a structured
dialogue that can be predicted and then scripted in advance. Surveys, for example, can be conducted
quickly, cost-effectively and consistently without involvement of an agent at any time. Simiiarly,
automated payment of a subscription renewal or overdue credit card payment can be facilitated without
agent intervention.

Burstable capacity. Our service leverages a multi-carrier telephony backbone with the ability to
initiate more than 800,000 cutbound calls each hour. This capacity enables clients to “burst” extremely
large campaigns during shert time periods, when customers are most likely to be at home.

Rapid service deployment and campaign modification. A new client can initiate its first campaign
using our service in a period as short as a few days, using only its existing telephony equipment and
Internet connections. New clients avoid the delay associated with installing the hardware and software
required for an on-premise system. Moreover, clients can modify or enhance existing campaigns quickly
through our client management organization or immediately by self service. '

Usage-based pricing model. 'We provide our service under a usage-based pricing model, with prices
calculated on a per-minute or per-message basis. This pricing model limits the risks of adoption of our
service by clients, and assures clients that we have a strong incentive to provide expected benefits
consistently.

Our Strategy

Our objective is to become the leading global provider of on-demand automated customer contact
solutions. To achieve this goal, we are pursuing the following:

Leverage referenceable clienr base. Since initiating a sales and marketing program focused on
third-party collection agencies in 2004, we have built a client base that includes 14 of the 20 largest
collection agencies in North America. We are building on this client base by targeting large in-house, or
“first-party,” collection departments in industries such as telecommunications that are characterized by the
need for regular interactions with sizeable customer bases. The third-party collection agencies form a base
of referenceable clients, whose use of our service influences decisions by first-party collection depart-
ments with respect to our platform. Our direct sales force will continue to expand our presence in
collection agencies and first-party collection departments, while beginning to leverage our existing first-
party relationships with large businesses to facilitate introductions and sales to other functional groups
within those businesses.

Exploit on-demand platform. The on-demand delivery model provides us with opportunities to
drive and accelerate revenues while managing our expenses. For example, we can begin generating
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revenues from a new client in only a few days because our platform enables quick deployment of our
service. We believe our platform’s flexibility can help us generate revenues by providing clients with
access 1o complementary services furnished by us or third-party vendors and by offering one or more
additional service levels to suit differing client needs. Moreover, our multi-tenant platform supports a
large number of clients economically, which allows us to leverage our buying power for telephony and
other equipment and services as we add clients.

Broaden service offering. Our on-demand service is a campaign management solution focused
primarily on the voice channel. We will use our platform to introduce additional features and complemen-
tary services, which we expect to offer using either a usage-based or subscription pricing model. In 2007
we introduced a payment gateway, added support for event-based notifications and extended our ability to
analyze prior customer contacts. We intend to reinforce our technology leadership position by, for
example, extending our service to target specific industries and expanding our analytics support.

Aggressively migrate to VoIF.  VolIP telephony is changing the fundamental structure of contact
centers by enabling customer service functions to move beyond traditional contact centers to remote
contact center agents. Our platform positions us to take advantage of the rapid adoption of VoIP
telephony. We currently are transitioning to a VoIP infrastructure that will help us realize the benefits of
IP-based communications, including reduced costs and enablement of advanced business communication
applications. During 2007, we began converting our existing telecommunications infrastructure to VolP.
As of December 31, 2007, 30% of our physical infrastructure and 15% of our traffic was'convented to
VoIP. In the longer term, we believe our platform will enable us to take advaniage of the disintermedia- -
tion of on-premise contact center technology enabled by VolP telephony.

Selectively pursue strategic acquisitions and relationships. To complement and accelerate our
internal growth, we may pursue acquisitions of businesses, technologies and products that will expand the
feature set of our service, provide access to new markets or clients, or otherwise complement our existing
operations. We also may seek to expand our service offerings by entering into business relationships
involving preferred or exclusive licenses, additional distribution channels, investments in other enterprises,
joint ventures, or similar arrangements.

Our On-Demand Service

Clients use our service to create and manage campaigns for a variety of collections, customer care and
marketing processes. A campaign is a series of communications with a targeted group of customers, typically
for a defined period of time. The targeted group is identified by a contact list containing customer-specific
attributes, including first and last names, telephone numbers, e-mail addresses, and other information specific
to the campaign such as amounts owed. A campaign often encompasses multiple passes through the contact
list. Campaigns can be conducted using contact center agents or on an agentless basis. For an AVM solution to
be effective, it must increase contact center efficiencies not only by further increasing agent productivity, but
also by facilitating agentiess interactions where appropriate. Sample campaigns include:

Collections Marketing Customer Care

* Payment reminders = Credit card activations = Contract and subscription renewals
= Early-stage collections  + Surveys * Delivery notifications

» Contingent collections  + Welcome calls  Scheduled service outages

We provide our service under a usage-based pricing model. As a result, clients pay only for the services
they have used. Prices are calculated on a per-message or, more typically, per-minuie basis. We will use our
platform to introduce additional features and complementary services, which we expect to offer using either a
usage-based or subscription pricing model. We may determine to offer one or more additional service levels to
suit differing client needs.




The following diagram illustrates the key elements of the customer contact platform we use to provide
our service:
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Secure Web and Data Integration Interfaces. Most clients access our service using a web browser. Qur
Secure Web User Interface enables clients to upload contact lists, initiate and manage campaigns, and generate near
real-time customnized reports. All of our platform features can be accessed through this secure, easy-to-use interface,
which makes our service available to clients on a self service basis. Data, such as contact list information, also can
be uploaded and accessed through our Secure Data Integration Interface, which enables clients to load information
directly from their collection management or customer relationship management system. Once a campaign is
completed, the interface enables the results to be loaded directly back into the client’s system,

Core Components. Qur platform includes the following core components, each of which can be accessed
via the web or by integrating a client’s collection management or customer relationship management system
with our platform.

List Management manages the importing and accessing of a client’s contact list. This component also
manages contact suppression, which removes one or more contacts from a campaign ecither before the
campaign begins or while the campaign is progressing. Contacts may be suppressed because, for example, a
customer previously expressed a preference not to receive the proposed type of communication or a recipient
takes the requested action before all of the passes within a campaign are completed.

Seript Interaction tests and manages any number of contact scripts to be used to determine the content
during customer interactions. In a telephone call, for example, a script specifies the sequence of audio prompts
that are played and what happens when the recipient takes certain actions, such as pressing a button on the
telephone or saying “yes.” Individual customer interactions are supported by our flexible scripting language
and personalized messaging. Scripts can be readity modified and repurposed over time. Qur personalized voice
messages use professional voice talents or text-to-speech technology to insert customer-specific infermation
into an interaction. This component supports the following activities:

« Automated Right-Party Verification enables the identity of a customer to be verified without contact
center agent involvement by, for example, having a recipient enter his or her billing zip code.

» Direct Connect to Contact Center allows a recipient to connect directly to a contact center in order to
speak with a contact center agent.



« Campaign Strategy defines the frequency and nature of the customer interactions to be employed to
achieve the goals of a campaign. This component includes the following features:

* Multi-Pass Campaigns are multiple overlapping passes through a contact list determined in accor-
dance with client-defined parameters and intended to maximize contact list penetration and response
rates.

+ Call Pass Escalation defines the conditions in which our service moves 1o a different phone number
or e-mail address within a contact pass.

* Contact Ordering prioritizes contacts based on client-specified criteria, such as the amount owed, or
on the likelihood that customers will be reached at a particular time,

For campaigns involving contact center agents, Agent Management manages the routing of qualified
customers to agents and seeks to maximize the usage of agents’ time while minimizing customers’ wait time.
This component includes the following features:

» AutoManage monitors and controls campaign performance to adjust the pace of outgoing calls to
balance the flow of calls to the contact center. Based on our proprietary algorithm, adjustments are
made based on factors such as contact center agent availability, average talk time and average hold
times, '

« Call Forecasting provides continuousty refreshed data concerning current and anticipated future contact
attempts that contact center managers can use for contact center agent resource planning.

« Contact Center Reports are available in near real-time and provide details on customer interactions with
contact centers, including ring time, waiting time and talk time.

Compliance Management provides a client with the ability to define a set of rules to control when a
customer is contacted based on the location of the recipient. The location is determined based on the phone
number being contacted. This enterprise-level facility enables clients to establish and maintain their compli-
ance policies within the SoundBite platform.

Reporting and Analytics produces reports, in a variety of forrnats, exported at any time during or after a
campaign. We offer flexible report formatting, scheduling and delivery options. Reports typically contain
details regarding contact attempts and outcomes. Reports are available for a specific campaign, or for all of
the campaigns of a department, group or other client account. This component also includes performance
analytics capabilities to assist clients in improving the design and execution of their campaigns. For example,
a client might determine, based on our analysis of campaign data, that the client’s next campaign should be
executed at a different time of day or should be targeted to wireless, rather than wireline, customers. We are
continuing to enhance our apalytics capabilities using advanced statistical techniques and predictive modeling.

Enterprise Management provides a client with the ability to manage, using a single control panel, all
campaigns in any of the client’s accounts. Accounts and privileges can be created and customized at the
enterprise level for greater security, This component allows a client to share interaction scripts and suppression
lists across the client’s entire enterprise. In addition, reports covering all of a client’s accounts can be provided
on an enterprise-wide basis.

Security. Our platform includes a number of security practices designed to keep customer data safe and
confidential, such as encryption of sensitive data, secure transmission, audit trails, non-shared accounts,
need-to-know access policies and formal incident response. In addition, clients can elect to use supplemental
security features such as e-mail and FTP address restrictions for report deliveries and encryption of reports.

We have instituted periodic internal and third-party reviews of our security structure, including an annual
voluntary external Type II audit of our IT-related control activities under Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 70, Reperts on the Processing of Transactions by Service Organizations. A Type Il audit, as of
September 30, 2007, resulted in an unqualified opinion for our control environment. An unqualified opinion is
the highest designation given and indicates that each of the conirol objectives specified by the service
organization was met without any significant exception or deficiency.
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In August, 2007, we became a Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard, or PCI/DSS, compliant
Service Provider (Leve! 3), which enables us to work more closely and exchange more data with banks and
credit card companies.

Delivery Channels. Our on-demand service is a multi-channel solution. To date, we have focused
principally on designing and implementing features that support the use of our service for the voice channel.
Our service supports the delivery of both outbound and inbound voice communications. The outbound voice
channel can be used for either a contact center agent-assisted or agentless campaign. The inbound voice
channel is primarily used in support of an outbound campaign, as in the case of a callback number, or as part
of an inbound-only agentless campaign supported by an IVR interaction. Our service supports both text- and
HTML-based e-mail.

Complementary Services. We offer clients a number of supplemental complementary services accessed
through our on-demand platform, including Payment services that facilitate the automation of the entire
payment process, Append services that allow clients to augment their contact lists with additional information,
and Contact Strategy services that analyze clients’ historical campaigns and recommend new contact strategies.
Some complementary services, including Payment and Append, incorporate back-office functionality provided
by a third party. We intend to develop additional complementary services that will be offered for an
incremental fee, based on either a usage-based or subscription pricing model.

Our Client Management Services

Our client management organization assists clients in selecting service features and adopting best
practices that will help the clients make the best use of our service. The organization provides varying levels
of support, from managing an entire campaign to supporting self-service clients. It offers a range of services
that includes script development, campaign strategy, professional voice talent recording, custom reporting and
detailed analysis of campaign results. At December 31, 2007, our client management organization had
42 employees.

Qur client management organization consists of three principal teams:

Implementation, Training and General Help Desk members provide implementation services, includ-
ing detailed user training, test setup and measurement design, script development, voice talent recording,
and all aspects of file and data transfer before and after campaigns. The team provides our clients with
training both initially and on a continuing basis, so they can use our service more effectively and
efficiently. Our help desk is available around-the-clock to provide immediate support to clients.

Solutions Consulting members build and maintain a library of best practices based upon experience
gained in helping design and optimize campaigns. The team also works directly with prospects and
customers to determine the most appropriate use of our platform in the client’s business. Demonstrations
of our platform are used to highlight features and functionality available in current and future releases.

Customer Analytics members consult with selected clients to provide advanced reporting and data
analysis for their organizations. The team provides performance and predictive analytics capabilities to
assist clients in improving their campaign and contact center results.

Business Segments and Geographic Information

We manage our operations on a consolidated, single segment basis for purposes of assessing performance
and making operating decisions. Accordingly, we have only one reporting segment. Organizations in the
United States accounted for substantially all of our revenues in each of 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Clients

Since January 1, 2007, our service has been used by more than 200 organizations in the collection
agencies, financial services, retail, telecommunications and utilities industries. Our clients are located
principally in the United States, with a limited number located in Canada and the United Kingdom.
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In 2004 we initiated a sales and marketing program focused on third-party collection agencies, which
depend on voice messaging and other customer contact methods to drive revenues and are receplive 10 testing
and deploying new contact technologies. Since that time, we have built a client base that includes 14 of the 20
largest collection agencies in North America, More recently, we have begun to build on this referenceable
client base to target large in-house, or “first-party,” collection departments in industries, such as telecommuni-
cations, characterized by the need for regular interactions with large customer bases. We provide our service
under a usage-based pricing model, and our pricing agreements with clients, including our third-party
collection agency clients, do not require minimum levels of usage or payments.

NCO Group, a provider of business process outsourcing services, accounted for more than 10% of our
revenues in each of 2007, 2006 and 2005. Afni, Inc., a provider of customer interaction solutions, accounted
for more than 10% of our revenues in each of 2006 and 2005, and T-Mobile USA, Inc. accounted for more
than 10% of our revenues in 2007. None of these clients accounted for 20% or more of our revenues in any
year.

Sales and Marketing

We sell our service through our direct sales force. As of December 31, 2007, our direct sales force
consisted of 26 employees located at our headquarters in Bedford, Massachusetis, elsewhere in the United
States, and in Canada. Our relationships with resellers accounted for an aggregate of less than 5% of our
revenues in each of 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Sales leads are generated through cold calling, client and other referrals, and a variety of marketing
programs, Once a lead is qualified, the typical sales process involves a web-based or in-person presentation
and demonstration, together with pre-sales support from our client management organization. These presenta-
tions typically focus on explaining the benefits of our service, including the speed with which the service can
be deployed, and demonstrating the potential return on investment from the use of our service. We encourage
prospective clients to engage in a pilot campaign to evaluate the efficacy of our service.

Our markeling communications and programs strategy has been designed to increase awareness of our
service, generate qualified sales leads and expand relationships with existing clients. We reinforce our brand
identity through our website and public relations, which are intended to build market awareness of our
company as a leader of on-demand customer communications sofutions. We host regional user meetings and
regular educational webinars, and we participate in industry events and associations. We distribute quarterly
newsletters and other written communications to prospective and existing clients by e-mail and direct mail
campaigns. At December 31, 2007, our marketing group had 13 employees.

Technotogy, Developmeni and Operations
Technology

We launched our first multi-tenant on-demand service in 2000. Our service is provided through a secure,
scalable platform written primarily in Java using the Java 2 Enterprise Edition, or J2EE, development
framework. We use a combination of proprietary and commerciaily available software, including the Apache
web server, the BEA WebLogic application server, Nuance text-to-speech and automated speech recognition
software, and the Oracle database. The software runs on a combination of Linux and Microsofi Windows
servers. We also use commercially available hardware, including NMS Communications telephony cards and
NexTone session border controliers.

Our service manages clients as scparate tenants within our platform, As a result, we amortize the cost of
delivering our service across our entire client base. In addition, because we do not have to manage thousands
of distinct applications with their own business logic and database schemas, we believe that we can scale our
solution faster than traditional predictive dialers, even those that have modified their products to be accessible
over the Internet.
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Our service enables clients to import and access data independent of format and to customize the script
interaction and reporting output of their campaigns. The web user interface of our platform can be customized
for a client that wishes to have a specific “look and feel” across its enterprise.

Research and Development

Our research and development organization is responsible for improving, enhancing and augmenting our
on-demand platform, as well as developing new features, complementary services and other new offerings.
The organization also is responsible for performing platform functionality and load testing, as well as quality
assurance activities. The organization currently is working on a number of opportunities, including work
related to analytics, campaign management, new channels and complementary services. At December 31,
2007, our research and development organization had 33 employees.

Our research and development expenses totaled $3.9 million in 2007, $3.5 millien in 2006 and
$2.1 million in 2005.

Operations

We serve our clients from three third-party hosting facilities located in Ashburn, Virginia, Somerville,
Massachusetts and Toronto, Canada. Al facilities provide around-the-clock security personnel, video surveil-
lance and biometric access screening, and are serviced by on-site electrical generators and fire detection and
suppression systems. We maintain insurance policies covering substantially all of the assets deployed at our
hosting facilities. For information regarding the facility locations, operators and agreement terms, see
“Item 2 — Properties”.

Both US facilities have muliiple Tier 1 interconnects to the Internet and are connected by a SONET lcop.

Our Canadian facility is strategically located to allow us direct access to a number of telecommunication
providers. We have multiple telecommunication providers for voice termination, including Global Crossing,
MCI, Level 3 and Qwest. We have selected our mix of telecommunications carriers to limit service
interruption, even in the event of a localized loss of a major provider. We belicve we can maintain access to
our service, with prioritized call capacity, within a limited interruption window, although we have not
experienced or comprehensively tested a full failover of any of our facilities.

We own all the hardware deployed in support of our platform. We continuously monitor the performance
and availability of our service. We designed our service infrastructure using load-balanced web server pools,
redundant interconnected network switches and firewalls, replicated database servers, clustered application
servers, and fault-tolerant storage devices. Production databases are backed up on a regular basis to ensure
transactional integrity and restoration capability. During 2007, we began converting our existing telecommuni-
cations infrastructure to VoIP. As of December 31, 2007, 30% of our physical infrastructure and 15% of our
traffic was converted to VoIP.

We have deployed a security infrastructure that includes firewalls, intrusion prevention and detection, and
IPSEC, PGP and TLS data and network security protection. We have instituted periodic internal and third-
party reviews of our security infrastructure, including an annual voluntary external Type Il audit under
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 70. In August 2007, we became a PCI/DSS compliant Service Provider
{Level 3), which enables us to work more closely and exchange more data with banks and credit card
companies.

We have service level agreements or arrangements with a small number of clients under which we
warrant certain levels of system reliability and performance. If we fail to meet those levels, those clients are
entitled to either receive credits or terminate their agreements with us. We did not provide any such credits,
and no client terminated its agreement with us, in 2007, 2006 or 2005 pursuant to any service level provision.

At December 31, 2007, our operations organization had 9 employees.
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Competition

To date, we have offered our on-demand service primarily for use in AVM campaigns. The market for
AVM solutions is intensely competitive, changing rapidly and fragmented. The following summarizes the
principal products and services that compete with our service.

Predictive Dialers

Our service competes with on-premise predictive dialers from established vendors such as Aspect and
Avaya as well as a number of smaller vendors. Our service competes with on-premise predictive dialers on the
basis of both available features and delivery model, including:

* breadth of features;

= speed of deployment;

* capital investment required;

* pricing model for customers; and
* capacity, including burstability.

A number of predictive dialer vendors offer forms of hosted solutions, which we believe are typically
services in which predictive dialers are hosted by first-generation application service providers, or ASPs, rather
than on a multi-tenant on-demand basis. We believe these ASP-hosted services are deployed on individual
servers and application infrastructures, using dedicated predictive dialers. We compete with ASP-hosted .
predictive dialer services on the same basis as on-premise predictive dialers, except that deployment speed and
required capital investment are less significant in differentiating our service from these ASP-hosted services.

Predictive dialers have been the basic method of AYM contact for the last two decades, and the vast
majority of telephony customer contact today is completed using predictive dialer technology. Many organiza-
tions are likely to continue using on-premise predictive dialers that have been purchased and are still operative,
despite the availability of new features and functionality in our service or in other AVM solutions. In addition,
the on-demand service delivery model is relatively new, and many organizations have not yet fully adopted or
accepted this delivery model.

Some vendors of predictive dialers, particularly Aspect and Avaya, have significantly greater financial,
technical, marketing, service and other resources than we have. Many of these vendors also have larger
installed client bases and longer operating histories. Competitors with greater financial resources may be able
to offer lower prices, additional products or services, or other incentives that we cannot maich or offer, These
competitors may be in a stronger position to respond quickly to new technelogies and may be able to
undertake more extensive marketing campaigns.

Hosted AVM Solutions

Qur service also competes with a number of hosted AVM solutions. Most vendors of hosted AVM
solutions focus on providing a basic service with limited features and compete principally on the basis of
price. These vendors consist principally of a number of relatively small, privately held companies and a small
number of larger, multi-product line companies such as Premier Global. We compete with these vendors on
the basis of the Tollowing: :

* price;

¢ refurn on investment;

» breadth of feétures;

» brand awareness based on referenceable customer base; and

* security and reliability.




Some of these vendors deliver their AVM services on an ASP model, using dedicated hardware and
telephony equipment. We compete with these vendors based on the attributes of our multi-tenant on-demand
delivery model, as described above with respect to ASP-hosted predictive dialer services.

We also compete directly with a small number of vendors who deliver AVM services on an on-demand
delivery model similar to ours. These vendors focus on providing hosted AVM services with a breader array of
features, such as advanced reporting capabilities and supporting professional services. These vendors generally
compete on the basis of return on investment and features, rather than price, and focus their principal selling
efforts on differing groups of industries. We compete with these vendors based on the flexibility of our usage-
based pricing model, the analytical capabilities of our platform and our referenceable client base. We are
aware of fewer than twenty privately held vendors that deliver AVM services on an on-demand delivery basis.
We believe, based on market information available to us, that we are one of the two largest such vendors,
based on revenue. One of these vendors, Varolii Corporation, filed a registration statement for an initial public
offering of its common stock in September 2007.

In the past few years, there have been a number of new entrants in the hosted AVM services market.
Most of these new entrants offer basic, price-oriented AVM services hosted on an ASP model. There are
significant barriers to entry for potential competitors seeking to offer more fully featured hosted AVM services.
We believe that companies wishing to target this portion of the market may seek to acquire existing vendors.
West Corporation, a provider of outsourced communications services, acquired CenterPost Communications, a
provider of enterprise multi-channel solutions for automating customer communications in February 2007 and
acquired TeleVox Software, a provider of communication and automated messaging services to the healthcare
industry, in March 2007. 1t is likely any such acquiring companies would have greater financial, technical,
marketing, service and other resources than we have and may be able to offer lower prices, additional products
or services, or other incentives that we cannot match or offer.

Intellectual Property

Our success will depend in part on our ability to protect our intellectual property and to avoid
infringement of the intellectual property of third parties. We rely on a combination of trade secret laws,
trademarks and copyrights in the United States and other jurisdictions, as well as contractual provisions and
licenses, to protect our proprietary rights and brands. We cannot, however, be sure that steps we take to protect
our proprietary rights will prevent misappropriation of our intellectual property.

We have adopted a strategy of seeking limited patent protection with respect to the technologies used in
or relating to our products. We have three issued U.S. patents, which relate to: {(a) a voice message delivery
method and system (patent number US 6,785,363 B3) that was issued in August 2004 and will expire in
January 2021; (b) an address book for a voice message delivery method and system (patent number US
6,829,331 B2) that was issued in December 2004 and will expire in January 2022; and (c) answering machine
detection for voice message delivery and system (patent number US 7,054,419) that was issued in May 2006
and will expire in April 2021. We have one pending U.S. patent application relating to a method and system
for managing interactive communications campaigns (apptication number 11/336,151). The intellectual
property covered by our issued patents is not key to the operation of our business as currently conducted or
proposed to be conducted. We evaluate ideas and inventions for patent protection with a team of engineers,
product managers and internal counsel, in consultation with our outside patent counsel. We expect to file
additional patent applications in the ordinary conduct of our business.

“SoundBite” is our sole registered service mark in the United States. We have unregistered trademarks
and service marks identifying certain service offerings. None of our unregistered trademarks and service marks
is material to our business. We seek to protect our source code for our platform, as well as decumentation and
other written materials, under trade secret and copyright laws. '

We may not receive compelitive advantages from the rights granted under our intellectual property rights.
Others may develop technologies that are similar or superior to our proprietary technologies or duplicate our
proprietary technologies. Qur pending and any future patent applications may not be issued with the scope of
claims sought by us, if at all, or the scope of claims we are seeking may not be sufficiently broad to protect
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our proprietary technologies. QOur issued patents and any future patents we are granted may be circumvented,
blocked, licensed to others or challenged as to inventorship, ownership, scope, validity or enforceability, It is
possible that literature we may be advised of by third parties in the future could negatively affect the scope or
enforceability of any patent. If our issued patents, any future patent we are granted, our current or any future
patent application, or our service is found to conflict with any patents held by third parties, we could be
prevented from selling our service, any current or future patent may be declared invalid, or our current or any
future patent application may not result in an issued patent. In addition, in foreign countries, we may not
receive effective patent and trademark protection. We may be required to initiate litigation in order to enforce
any patents issued to us, or to determine the scope or validity of a third party’s patent or other proprietary
rights. In addition, in the future we may be subject to lawsuits by third parties seeking to enforce their own
intellectual property rights, as described in “Risk Factors — Our product development efforts could be
constrained by the intellectual property of others, and we could be subject to claims of intellectual property
infringement, which could be costly and time-consuming.”

We seek to avoid disclosure of our intellectual property by requiring employees and consultants with
access to our proprigtary information 1o execute nondisclosure and assignment of intellectual property
agreements and by restricting access o our source code. Other parties may not comply with the terms of their
agreements with us, and we may not be able to enforce our rights adequately against these parties,

Our service offering incorporates technology licensed from third-party providers. If these providers were
no longer to aliow us to use these technologies for any reason, we would be required to:

» identify, license and integrate equivalent technology from another source;
+ rewrite the technology ourselves; or
* rewrite portions of our source code to accommodate the change or no longer use the technology.

Any one of these outcomes could delay further sales of our service, impair the functionality of our
service, delay the introduction of new features and complementary services, result in our substituting inferior
or more costly technologies, or injure cur reputation. In addition, we may be required to license additional
technology from third parties, and we cannot assure you that we could license that technology on
commercially reasonable terms or at all. Because of the relative immateriality of this third-party licensed
technology as well as the availability of alternative equivalent technology, we do not expect that our inability
to license this technology in the future would have a material effect on our business or operating results.

Government Regulation

Our business operations are affected, directly or indirectly, by a wide range of U.S. federal and state laws
and regulations that restrict customer communications activities using our service, our handling of information
and other aspects of our business. On the U.S. federal level, for example, regulatory measures include:

* the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, which regulates the timing and content of debt collection
communications;

= the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, which restricts the circumstances under which automated
telephone dialing systems and artificial or prerecorded messages may be used to contact wireless
telephone numbers;

« Federal Trade Commission and Federal Communications Commission telemarketing reguiations, which
have been promulgated under the authority of the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse
Prevention Act and the Telephone Consumer Protection Act and which restrict the timing, content and
manner of telemarketing calls, including the use of automated dialing systems, predictive dialing
techniques, and artificial or prerecorded voice messages;

« the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, which regulates the disclosure of consumer nonpublic personal informa-
tion received from our financial institution clients and requires those clients to impose administrative,
technical, and physical data security measures in their contracts with us; and
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« the Fair Credit Reporting Act, which defines permissible uses of consumer information furnished to or
obtained from consumer reporting agencies.

Many states and state agencies have also adopted and promulgated laws and regulations governing debt
collection, contact with wireless telephone numbers, telemarketing, and data privacy. These laws and
regulations may, in certain cases, impose restrictions that are more stringent than the federal measures
discussed above. To date, our employees have performed a significant portion of our activities in complying
with U.S. federal and state laws and regulations and we have not incurred material out-of-pocket compliance
costs.

Our foreign business operations are, or may be, affected by foreign laws and regulations. For example,
our current telemarketing activities in the United Kingdom are subject to a comprehensive telemarketing
regulation, which includes a prohibition on calls to numbers on the UK's national do-not-call registry, the
Telephone Preference Service. Canada has also decided to establish a similar national do-not-call registry to be
implemented by September 30, 2008. Furthermore, we may in the future determine to commence or expand
our operations to other countries, and these countries may have laws or regulations comparable to or more
stringent than those affecting our domestic business.

Our business, operating results and reputation may be significantly harmed if we violate, or are alleged to
violate, U.S. federal, state or foreign laws or rules covering customer communications. In the pricing
agreements they enter into with us, our clients typically agree to comply in all material respects with all
applicable legal and regulatory requirements relating to their use of our service. We cannot be certain,
however, that our clients comply with these obligations, and typically we cannot verify whether clients are
complying with their obligations. Violations by our clients may subject us to costly legal proceedings and if
we are found to be wholly or partially responsible for such violations, may subject us to damages, fines or
other penalties. For a further description of some of the governmental regulations that may affect our business
operations, see “Item 1A — Risk Factors — Risks Related to Regulation of Use of Our Service.”

Employees

As of December 31, 2007, we had a total of 142 employees, consisting of 39 employees in sales and
marketing, 33 employees in research and development, 42 employees in client management, 9 employees in
operations, and 19 employees in general and administrative. All of the employees were based in the United
States, except for 1 employee based in Toronto, Canada. A total of 127 of our employees as of December 31,
2007 were based at our headquarters in Bedford, Massachusetts.

From time o time we also employ independent contractors and temporary employees to support our
operations. None of our employees are subject to collective bargaining agreements. We have never experienced
a work stoppage and believe that our relations with our employees are good.

Our History

We were founded in Delaware in April 2000. Our principal executive offices are located at 22 Crosby
Drive, Bedford, Massachusetts (1730, and our telephone number is (781) 897-2500. Qur website address is
wwiw.soundbite.com. We are not, however, including the information contained on our website, or information
that may be accessed through links on our website, as part of, or incorporating it by reference into, this annual
report on Form 10-K.

SoundBite is our registered service mark in the United States. All other trademarks, trade names and
service marks appearing in this prospectus are the property of their respective owners.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

An investment in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Investors should consider carefully
the risks and uncertainties described below and all of the other information contained in this report before
deciding whether to purchase our common stock. The market price of our common stock could decline due to
any of these risks and uncertainties, and investors might lose all or part of their investments in ocur common
stock.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

If the market for automated voice messaging products and services does not develop as we anticipate, our
revenues would decline or fail to grow and we could incur operating losses.

We derive, and expeci to continue to derive for the foreseeable future, almost all of our revenues by
providing our on-demand AVM service to businesses, governments and other organizations. Due to advances
in technology, the market for AVM products and services continues to evolve, and it is uncertain whether our
service will achieve and sustain high levels of demand and market acceptance. Qur success will depend to a
substantial extent on the willingness of organizations to use our service.

Some organizations may be reluctant or unwilling 1o use AVM products and services for a number of
reasons, including the perceived effectiveness of products and services based on other delivery channels, such
as direct mail, e-mail, text messaging, and web, or other technologies, such as interactive voice response
systems and predictive dialers. In addition, organizations may lack knowledge about the potential benefits that
AVM product and services can provide. An organization may determine that it can achieve the same, or a
higher, level of performance and results from products and services based on other delivery channels or
technologies and conclude that those products and services are superior to AVM products and services. Even if
an organization determines that AVM products and services offer benefits superior to other customer contact
products and services, it might not use AVM products or services because it has previously invested in
alternative products or services or in internally developed messaging equipment, because it can obtain
acceptable performance and results from alternative products and services available at a lower cost, or because
it is unwilling to deliver customer information to a third-party vendor.

If organizations do not perceive the potential and relative benefits of AVM products and services or
believe that other customer contact products and services offer a better value because of competitive pricing,
the AVM market might not continue to develop or might develop more slowly than we expect, either of which
would significantly adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results. Because the market
for AVM products and services is developing and the manner of its development is difficult to predict, we
could make errors in predicting and reacting to relevant business trends, which could harm our operating
results.

Defects in our platform, disruptions in our service or errors in execution could diminish demand for our
service and subject us to substantial liability.

Our on-demand platform is complex and incorporates a variety of hardware and proprietary and licensed
software. Internet-based services such as ours frequently experience disruptions from undetected defects when
first introduced or when new versions or enhancements are released. From time to time we have found and
corrected defects in our platform. Other defects in our platform, or defects in new features, complementary
services or upgrades released in the future, could result in service disruptions for one or more clients. Our
clients might use our service in unanticipated ways that cause a service disruption for other clients attempting
to access their contact list information and other data stored on our platform. In addition, a client may
encounter a service disruption or slowdown due to high usage levels of our service. For example, in May 2005
we experienced demand in excess of our then-current capacity, which limited the ability of certain clients to
execute their campaigns in their desired timeframes.

Clients engage our client management organization to assist them in creating and managing a campaign.
As part of this process, we typically construct and test a script, map the client’s input file into our platform
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and map our output files to a client-specific format. In order for a campaign to be executed successfuily, our
client management staff must correctly design, implement, test and deploy these work products. The
performance of these tasks can require significant skill-and effort, and from time to time has resulted in errors
that adversely affected a client’s campaign.

Because clients use our service for critical business processes, any defect in our platform, any disruption
in our service or any error in execution could cause existing or potential clients not to use our service, could
harm our reputation, and could subject us to litigation and significant liability for damage to our clients’
businesses.

The insurers under our existing liability insurance policy could deny coverage of a future claim that
results from an error or defect in our platform or a resulting disruption in our service, or our existing liability
insurance might not be adequate to cover all of the damages and other costs of such a claim. Moreover, we
cannot assure you that our current liability insurance coverage will continue to be available to us on acceptable
terms or at all. The successful assertion against us of one or more large claims that exceeds our insurance
coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our liability insurance policy, including an increase in premiums or
imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and operating results. Even if we succeed in litigation with respect to a claim, we
are likely to incur substantial costs and our management’s attention will be diverted from our operations.

Our quarterly operating results can be difficult to predict and can fluctuate substantially, which could
result in volatility in the price of our common stock.

Our quarterly revenues and other operating results have varied in the past and are likely to continue to
vary significantly from quarter to quarter. Our agreements with clients do not require minimum levels of usage
or payments, and our revenues therefore fluctuate based on the actual usage of our service each quarter by
existing and new clients. Quarterly fluctuations in our operating results also might be due to numerous other
factors, including;

* our ability to attract new clients, including the length of our sales cycles, or to sell increased usage of
our service to existing clients;

* technical difficulties or interruptions in our service;

» changes in privacy protection and other governmental regulations applicable to the communications
industry;

+ changes in our pricing policies or the pricing policies of our competitors;
« the financial condition and business success of our clients;

» purchasing and budgeting cycles of our clients;

» acquisitions of businesses and products by us or our competitors;

« competition, including entry into the market by new competitors or new offerings by existing
competitors;

= our ability to hire, train and retain sufficient sales, client management and other personnel;

» timing of development, introduction and market acceptance of new services or service enhancements by
us OT our compeltitors;

* concentration of marketing expenses for activities such as trade shows and advertising campaigns;
» expenses related io any new or expanded data centers; and

» general economic and financial market conditions.
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Many of these factors are beyond our control, and the occurrence of one or more of them could cause our
operating results to vary widely. Because of quarterly fluctuations, we believe that quarter-to-quarter compar-
isons of our operating results are not necessartly meaningful.

In recent years, our quarterly revenues have been affected by seasonal factors as the result of the level of
revenues we have derived from third-party collection agencies. These factors have caused our revenues in the
first quarter to decrease, or increase at a slower rate, as compared to revenues in the immediately preceding
fourth quarter. We believe these factors reflect a reduced level of collections processes follawing the fourth-
quarter holiday season and the lower number of business days in the first quarter.

We may fail to forecast accurately the behavior of existing and potential clients or the demand for our
service. Our expense levels are based, in significant part, on our expectations as to future revenues and are
largely fixed in the short term. As a result, we could be unable to adjust spending in a timely manner to
compensate for any unexpected shortfall in revenues. We intend to increase our operaling expenses as we
expand our research and development, sales and marketing, and administrative organizations, The timing of
these increases and the rate at which new personnel become productive will affect our operating results, and,
in particular, we could incur operating losses in the event of an unexpected delay in the rate at which
development, sales personnel or new marketing initiatives become productive.

Variability in our periodic operating results could lead to volatility in our stock price as equity research
analysts and investors respond to quarterly fluctuations. Moreover, as a result of any of the foregoing factors,
our operating results might not meet our announced guidance or expectations of investors, in which case the
price of our common stock could decrease significantly.

Our clients are not obligated to pay any minimum amount for use of our service on an on-going basis,
and if they discontinue use of our service or do not use our service on a regular basis, our revenues
would decline.

The agreements we enter into with clients do not require minimum levels of usage or payments and are
terminable at will by our clients. The periodic usage of our service by an existing client could decline or
fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including the client’s level of satisfaction with our service, the
client’s ability to satisfy its customer contact processes internally, and the availability and pricing of competing
products and services. If our service fails to generate consistent business from existing clients, our business,
financial condition and operating results will be adversely affected.

We derive a significant portion of our revenues from the sale of our service for use in the collections
process, and any event that adversely affects the collection agencies industry or in-house collection
departments would cause our revenues to decline.

In recent years, we have focused our sales and marketing activities on the collection process, and have
targeted collection agencies and debt buyers in the collection agencies industry as well as large in-house
collection departments of businesses in other industries. Revenues from these coltection businesses represented
83% of our revenues 2007, 80% of our revenues in 2006 and 67% of our revenues in 2005. We expect that
revenues from the collection businesses will continue to account for a substantial part of our revenues for the
foreseeable future, '

Collection businesses are particularly subject to changes in the overall economy and in credit granting
practices. Collection businesses are likely to be affected adversely by any sustained economic upturn, any
tightening of credit granting practices, or any technological advancement or regulatory change affecting the
collection of cutstanding indebtedness. Any such occurrence would cause us to lose some or all of the
recurring business of our clients in the cotlections business, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financiai condition and operating results.

Moreover, two clients accounted for a total of 29% of our revenues in 2007, 26% of our revenues in 2006
and 32% of our revenues in 2005. These clients are either in the collection agencies industry or are large in-
house collection departments of businesses in other industries. In addition to the risks associated with
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collections businesses in general, our business, financial condition and operating results would be negatively
affected if these clients were to significantly decrease the extent to which they use our service.

Actual or perceived breaches of our security measures could diminish demand for our service and subject
us to substantial lability.

Cur service involves the storage and transmission of clients” proprietary information. Internet-based
services such as ours are particularly subject to security breaches by third parties. Breaches of our security
measures also might result from employee error or malfeasance or other causes. In the event of a security
breach, a third party could obtain unauthorized access to our clients’ contact list information and other data.
Techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently, and they typically
are not recognized until after they have been launched against a target. As a result, we could be unable to
anticipate, and implement adequate preventative measures against, these techniques. Because of the critical
nature of data security, any actual or perceived breach of our security measures could cause existing or
potential clients not to use our service, could harm our reputation, and could subject us to litigation and
significant liability for damage to our clients’ businesses.

Interruptions or delays in service from our key vendors would impair the delivery of our on-demand
service and could substantially harm our business and operating results.

In delivering our service, we rely upon a combination of hosting providers, telecommunication carriers
and data carriers. We serve our clients from three third-party hosting facilities. One facility is located in
Ashburn, Virginia, and is owned by Equinix and operated by InterNap under an agreement that expires in
October 2008. Another facility is located in Somerville, Massachusetts, and is owned and operated by InterNap
under an agreement that expires in November 2008, Our third facility is located in Toronto, Canada and is
owned and operated by Pier | Network Enterprises under an agreement that expires in August 2008. If we are
unable to renew these agreements on commercially reasonable terms following their termination, we will need
to incur significant expense to relocate our data center or agree to the terms demanded by the hosting provider,
either of which could harm our business, financial position and operating results.

As of December 31, 2007, our clients’ campaigns were handled through a mix of telecommunication
carriers and data carriers. We rely on these carriers to handle millions of customer contacts each day. We have
contracts with these carriers that can be terminated by either party at the end of the contract term upon written
notice delivered by either party a specified number of days before the end of the term. In addition, we can
terminate the contracts at any time upon written notice delivered a specified number of days in advance,
subject to the payment of specified termination charges. If a contract is terminated, we might be unable to
obtain pricing on similar terms from another carrier, which would affect our gross margins and other operating
results.

Our hosting facilities and our carriers’ infrastructures are vulnerable to damage or interruption from
floods, fires and similar natural events, as well as acts of terrorism, break-ins, sabotage, intentional acts of
vandalism and similar misconduct. The occurrence of such a natural disaster or misconduct, a loss of power, a
decision by either of our hosting providers to close the facilities without adequate notice, or other
unanticipated problems could result in lengthy interruptions in our service. Any interruption or delay in our
service, even if for a limited time, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
operating results.

Our business will be harmed if we fail to develop.new features that keep pace with technological
developments or to transition successfully to a Voice over Internet Protocol telephony infrastructure.

Organizations can use a variety of communication channels to reach their customers or other intended
contacts. Recent technological advances have resulted in new communication channels, such as text messaging,
and improvements in existing services and products, such as predictive dialers, that threaten to eliminate the
competitive advantages of our AVM service. Our business, financial condition and operating results will be
adversely affected if we are unable to complete and introduce, in a timely manner, new features for our
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existing service that keep pace with technological developments. For example, because most of our clients
access qur service using a web browser, we must modify and enhance our service from time to time to keep
pace with new browser technology. In addition, we currently are transitioning to a Voice over Internet Protocol,
or VolP, telephony infrastructure, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to complete this migration on
our anticipated schedule or budget or that we ultimately will realize the cost savings and other benefits we
anticipate from this migration.

If the on-demand delivery model is not widely accepted for AVM services, our revenuey would decline or
Jail to grow and we could incur operating losses.

All of our clients access and use our AVM service on an on-demand basis. Qur success will depend to a
substantial extent on the willingness of organizations to increase their use of an on-demand delivery model for
enterprise applications in general and for AVM services in particular, Many organizations have invested
substantial financial and personnel resources to integrate traditional enterprise software and associated
hardware into their businesses, and they might be reluctant or unwilling to migrate to an on-demand delivery
model. Market acceptance of our on-demand delivery model for AVM services also might be limited by
numerous other factors, including:

» the security capabilities and reliability of our on-demand service;

* reluctance by organizations to trust third parties to store and manage critical customer data;
* our ability to continue to achieve and maintain high levels of client satisfaction;

* the level of customization we offer;

* our ability to meet the needs of broader segments of the c;ustomer contact market;

* a substantial decrease in the cost of hardware and software necessary for organizations to maintain their
customer contact technology in-house; and

* adverse publicity about us, our service or on-demand AVM services in general, whether based on poor
performance by us or our competitors or on third-party reviews and industry analyst reports.

Many of these factors are beyond our control. If businesses do not perceive the henefits of on-demand
AVM services, then the market for on-demand AVM services might not develop further, or it could develop
more slowly than we expect, either of which would adversely affect our business, financial condition and
operating results.

We face intense competition, and our failure to compete successfully would make it difficult for us to add
and retain clients and would impede the growth of our business.

The market for AVM solutions is intensely competitive, changing rapidly and fragmented. It is subject to
rapidly developing technology, shifting client requirements, frequent introductions of new products and
services, and increased marketing activities of industry participants. Increased competition could result in
pricing pressure, reduced sales or lower margins, and could prevent our service or future customer contact
solutions fror achieving or maintaining broad market acceptance. If we are unable to compete effectively, it
will be difficult for us to add and retain clients and our business, financial condition and operating results witl
be seriously harmed.

Predictive dialers have been the basic method of AVM contact for the last two decades, and the vast
majority of telephony customer contact today is completed using predictive dialer technology. Qur service
competes with on-premise predictive dialers from a limited number of established vendors and a number of
smaller vendors, as well as predictive dialers hosted by some of those smaller vendors on an application
service provider basis. Many organizations have invested in on-premise predictive dialers and are likely to
continue using those dialers until the dialers are no longer operational, despite the availability of new features
and functionality in our service or in other AVM solutions. In addition, the on-demand service delivery model
is relatively new, and many organizations have not yet fully adopted or accepted a fully hosted delivery model.
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Our AVM service also competes with a number of hosted AVM solutions. A limited number of
established vendors and a number of smaller, privately held companies offer hosted AVM services that
compete principally on the basis of price rather than features. In addition, a small number of vendors focus on
providing hosted AVM' services with features more comparable to ours. These vendors generally compete on
the basis of return on investment and features, rather than price. Other companies may enter the market by
offering competing products or services based on emerging technologies, such as open-source framewaorks, and
may compete on the basis of either features or price.

Some of our competitors have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing, service and other
resources than we have. These vendors also have larger installed client bases and longer operating histories.
Competitors with greater financial resources might be able to offer lower prices, additional products or
services, or other incentives that we cannot match or offer. These competitors could be in a stronger position
to respond quickly to new technologies and could be able to undertake more extensive marketing campaigns,

Mergers or other strategic transactions involving our competitors could weaken our competitive position,
which could harm our operating results,

Our industry is highly fragmented, and we believe it is likely that some of our existing competitors will
consolidate or will be acquired. West Corporation, a provider of outsourced communications services, acquired
CenterPost Communications, a provider of enterprise multi-channel solutions for automating customer
communications, in February 2007 and acquired TeleVox Software, a provider of communication and
automated messaging services to the healthcare industry, in March 2007. In addition, some of our competitors
may enter into new alliances with each other or may establish or strengthen cooperative relationships with
systems integrators, third-party consulting: firms or other parties. Any such consolidation, acquisition, alliance
or cooperative relationship could lead to pricing pressure and our loss of market share and could result in a
competitor with greater financial, technical, marketing, service and other resources, all of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our continued growth could strain our personnel resources and infrastructure, and if we are unable to
implement appropriate controls and procedures to manage our growth, we will not be able te implement
our business plan successfully.

We are currently experiencing a period of rapid growth in our headcount and operations. To the extent
that we are able to sustain such growth, it will place a significant strain on our management, administrative,
operational and financial infrastructure. Our success will depend in part upon the ability of our senior
management to manage this growth effectively. To do so, we must continue to hire, train and manage new
employees as needed. If our new hires perform poorly, or if we are unsuccessful in hiring, training, managing
and integrating these new employees, or if we are not successful in retaining our existing employees, our
business would be harmed. To manage the expected growth of our operations and personnel, we will need to
continue to improve our operational, financial, and management controls and our reporting systems and
procedures. The additional headcount we are adding will increase our cost base, which will make it more
difficult for us to offset any future revenue shortfalls by reducing expenses in the short term. If we fail to
successfully manage our growth, we will be unable to execute our business plan.

If we fail to retain our chief executive officer, chief operating and financial officer, chief technology
officer, and other key personnel, our business would be harmed and we might not be able to implement
our business plan successfully.

Qur future success depends upon the continued service of our executive officers and other key sales,
marketing, service, engineering and technical staff. In particular, each of Peter Shields, our chief executive
officer and president, Robert Leahy, our chief operating officer and chief financial officer, and Timothy Segall,
our chief technology officer, is critical to the management of our business and operations. None of our
executive officers or other key personnel is bound by an employment agreement, and therefore they can cease
their employment with us at any time with no advance notice. We do not maintain key person life insurance
on any of our employees. We are dependent on our executive officers and other key personnel, and the loss of
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any of them would harm our operations and could prevent us from successfully implementing our business
plan in a timely manner, if at all.

Failure to expand our direct sales force successfully will impede our growth.

We are highly dependent on our direct sales force to obtain new clients and to generate repeat business
from our existing client base. It is therefore critical that our direct sales force maintain regular contact with
our clients, both to gauge client satisfaction with our service as well as to highlight the value that use of our
service adds to their enterprises. There is significant competition for direct sales personnel. Our ability to
achieve significant growth in revenues in the future will depend in large part on our success in recruiting,
training and retaining sufficient numbers of direct sales personnel. New hires require significant training and
typically take more than a year before they achieve full productivity. Qur recent and planned hires might not
achieve full productivity as quickly as intended, or at all. If we fail to hire and successfully train sufficient
numbers of direct sales personnel, we will be unable to increase our revenues and the growth of our business
will be impeded.

)

Because competition for employees in our industry is intense, we might not be able to attract and retain
the highly skilled employees we need to execute our business plan.

To continue to execute our business plan, we must attract and retain highly qualified personnel.
Competition for these personnel is intense, especially for senior engineers and senior sales executives. We
might not be successful in attracting and retaining qualified personnel. We have experienced from time to time
in the past, and expect to continue to experience in the future, difficulty in hiring and retaining highly skilled
employees with appropriate qualifications. Many of the companies with which we compete for experienced
personnel have greater resources than we have. In addition, in making employment decisions, particularly in
technology-based industries, job candidates often consider the value of the stock options they are to receive in
connection with their employment. Volatility in the price of our common stock could therefore, adversely
affect our ability to attract or retain key employees. Furthermore, the requirement to expense stock options
could discourage us from granting the size or type of stock options awards that job candidates require to join
our company. If we fail to attract new personnel or fail to retain and motivate our current personnel, our
business plan and future growth prospects could be severely harmed.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights, we would be unable to protect our proprietary
technology and our brand. ‘

If we fail to protect our intellectual property rights adequately, our competitors could gain access o our
technology and our business could be harmed. We rely on trade secret, copyright and trademark laws, and
confidentiality and assignment of invention agreements with employees and third parties, all of which offer
only limited protection. The steps we have taken to protect our intellectual property might not prevent
misappropriation of our proprietary rights. We have only three issued patents and one patent application
pending in the United States. Our issued patents and any patents issued in the future, may not provide us with
any competitive advantages or may be successfully challenged by third parties. Furthermore, legal standards
relating to the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of intellectual property rights in other countries
are uncertain and might afford little or no effective protection of our proprietary technology. Consequently, we
could be unuble to prevent our intellectual property rights from being exploited abroad, which could diminish
international sales or require costly efforts to protect our technology. Policing the unauthorized use of
intellectual property rights is expensive, difficult and, in some cases, impossible. Litigation could be necessary
to enforce or defend our intellectual property rights, to protect our trade secrets, or to determine the validity
and scope of the proprietary rights of others. Any such litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion
of management resources, either of which could harm our business. Accordingly, despite our efforts, we might
not be able to prevent third parties from infringing upon or misappropriating our intellectual property.
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Our product development efforts could be constrained by the intellectual property of others, and we could
be subject to claims of intellectual property infringement, which could be costly and time-consuming.

The customer contact and telecommunications industries are characierized by the existence of a large
number of patents, trademarks and copyrights, and by frequent litigation based upon allegations of infringe-
ment or other violations of intellectual property rights. As we seek to extend our service, we could be
constrained by the intellectual property rights of others.

On October 17, 2007, our counsel and counsel for the underwriters of our initial public offering received
a letter on behalf of Universal Recovery Systems, Inc., or URS, alleging that our on-demand AVM solution
{a) may be in violation of specified patents owned by URS and (b) will be in violation of U.S. patent claims
filed by URS in May 2007 in a pending patent application. On October 19, 2007, we filed a lawsuit in the
federal district court in Massachusetts in which we requested (a) a declaration that we do not infringe any
valid and enforceable claim of any of the existing U.S. patents specified in the URS letter and (b} a judgment
that URS and its affiliate Blake Rice improperly interfered with our business, including our initial public
offering. On QOctober 23, 2007, URS filed a Statement of Non-Liability in the lawsuit, by which URS and
Blake Rice covenant not to assert any claim of patent infringement against us (or any of our controlled
affiliates, customers or authorized users) under such existing U.S. patents with respect to our on-demand AVM
products currently or previously marketed or sold in the United States. URS’s Statement of Non-Liability does
not address the claims of URS with respect to the specified U.S. patent application, which have not been
published or examined by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and therefore are not currently enforceable
against us or any other party, or two U.K. patents specified in the URS letter.

We might not prevail in any future intellectual property infringement litigation given the complex
technical issues and inherent uncertaintics in litigation. Any claims, regardless of their merit, could be time-
consuming and distracting to management, result in costly litigation or settlement, cause product development
delays, or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements. If our service violates any third-party
proprietary rights, including any claims of the patent application filed by URS that are ultimately allowed, we
could be required to re-engineer our service or seek to obtain licenses from third parties, which might not be
available on reasonable terms or at all. Any efforts 1o re-engineer our service, obtain licenses from third parties
on favorable terms or license a substitute technology might not be successful and, in any case, might
substantially increase our costs and harm our business, financial condition and operating results. Further, our
platform incorporates open source software components that are licensed to us under various public domain
licenses. While we believe we have complied with our obligations under the various applicable licenses for
open source software that we use, there is little or no legal precedent governing the interpretation of many of
the terms of certain of these licenses and therefore the potential impact of such terms on our business is
somewhat unknown,

Our platform relies on technology licensed from third parties, and our inability to maintain licenses of |
this technology on similar terms or errors in the licensed technology could result in increased costs or
impair the implementation or functionality of our service, which would adversely affect our business and
operating resulls.

Our multi-tenant customer communication platform relies on technology licensed from third-party
providers. For example, we use the Apache web server, the BEA WebLogic application server, Nuance texi-to-
speech and automated speech recognition software, and the Oracle database. We anticipate that we will need
to continue (0 license technology from third parties in the future. There might not always be commercially
reasonable software alternatives to the third-parnty software that we currently license. Any such software
alternatives could be more difficult or costly to replace than the third-party software we currently license, and
integration of that software into our platform could require significant work and substantial time and resources,
Any undetected errors in the software we license could prevent the implementation of our service, impair the
functionality of our service, delay or prevent the release of new features, complementary services or upgrades,
and injure our reputation. Qur use of additional or alternative third-party software would require us 1o enter
into license agreements with third parties, which might not be available on commercially reasonable terms or
at all.
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Any expansion of our business into international markets would expose us to additional business risks,
and failure to manage those risks could adversely affect our business and operating results.

To date, we have focused our sales and marketing efforts principally on organizations lecated in the
United States. Organizations in the United States accounted for substantially all of our revenues in each of
2007, 2006 and 2005. We may determine to commence operations in one or more other countries. Those
operations would be subject to a number of risks and potential costs, including:

+ difficulty in establishing, staffing and managing internationa! sales operations;

* challenges encountered under local business practices, which vary by country and often favor local
competitors;

* challenges caused by distance, language and cultural differences;

» compliance with multiple, conflicting and changing laws and regulations, including employment and
tax laws and regulations;

*» longer payment cycles in some countries;
+ currency exchange rate fluctuations; and
» limited protection of intellectual property in some countries outside of the United States.

Our failure to manage the risks associated with our international operations effectively could limit the
future growth of our business and adversely affect our operating results. Any expansion of our international
operations could require a substantial financial investment and significant management efforts.

Our limited operating history makes predicting future operating results more difficult.

We were founded and began offering our on-demand service in 2000, Investors must consider our
business and prospects in light of the risks, expenses and difficulties we encounter as a relatively new
company in a rapidly changing market, including:

* we have a single service offering and face risks in developing complementary services or new service
offerings;

» we could encounter difficulties in managing the growth, if any, of our business; and

» we could be unable to forecast accurately the behavior of existing and potential clients or the demand
for customer contact products.

We could fail to address one or more of these risks successfully. In addition, due to our relatively limited
history, any hListorical operating, financial or business information relating to our operations might not be
indicative of future results. We incurred a net loss in 2006, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to
generate net income in the current or any future fiscal year or quarter or that we will be able to forecast
accurately our operating results for any future fiscal year or quarter.

We might enter into acquisitions that are difficult to integrate, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder
value or divert management attention,

We intend to pursue acquisitions of businesses, technologies, and products that will complement our
existing operations. We cannol assure you that any acquisition we make in the future will provide us with the
benefits we anticipated in entering into the transaction. Acquisitions are typically accompanied by a number of
risks, including:

« difficulties in integrating the operations and personnel of the acquired companies;
» maintenance of acceptable standards, controls, procedures and policies;

* potential disruption of ongoing business and distraction of management;
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* impairment of relationships with employees and clients as a result of any integration of new
management and other personnel;

* inability to maintain relationships with clients of the acquired business; _

» difficulties in incorporating acquired technology and rights into products and services;

. unexpected expenses resulting from the acquisition;

* potential unknown liabilities associated with acquired businesses; and

* unanticipated expenses related to acquired technology and its integration into existing technology.

Acquisitions could result in the incurrence of debt, restructuring charges and large one-time write-offs,
such as write-offs for acquired in-process research and development costs. Acquisitions could also result in
goodwill and other intangible assets that are subject to impairment tests, which might result in future
impairment charges. Furthermore, if we finance acquisitions by issuing convertible debt or equity securities,
our existing stockholders would be diluted and earnings per share could decrease.

From time to time, we might enter into negotiations for acquisitions that are not ultimately consummated.
Those negotiations could result in diversion of management time and significant out-of-pocket costs. If we fail
to evaluate and execute acquisitions properly, we could fail to achieve our anticipated level of growth and our
business and operating results could be adversely affected.

The consolidation of our customers can reduce the number of our customers and adversely affect our business.

Some of our significant clients from time to time may merge, consolidate or enter into alliances with each
other. The surviving entity or resulting alliance may subsequently decide to use a different service provider or to
manage customer contact campaigns internally. Alternatively, the surviving entity or resulting alliance may elect
to continue using our service, but its strengthened financial position or enhanced leverage may lead to pricing
pressure. Either of these results could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and
financial condition. We may not be able to offset the effects of any such price reductions, and may not be able
to expand our client base to offset any revenue declines resulting from such a merger, consolidation or alliance.

COur ability to use net operating loss carryforwards in the United States may be limited.

As of December 31, 2007, we had net operating loss carryforwards of $17.0 million for U.S. federal tax
purposes and an additional $6.4 million for state tax purposes, These loss carryforwards expire between 2008
and 2027. To the extent available, we intend to use these net operating loss carryforwards to reduce the
corporate income tax liability associated with our operations. Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code
generally imposes an annual limitation on the amount of net operating loss carryforwards that may be used to
offset taxable income when a corporation has undergone significant changes in stock ownership. We believe
that ownership changes occurred in 2000 and 2001 and may potentially reduce our net operating loss
carryforwards by $6.8 million, Our ability to utilize net operating loss carryforwards may be limited by the
issuance of common stock in our initial public offering. To the extent our use of net operating loss
carryforwards is significantly limited, our income could be subject to corporate income tax earlier than it
would if we were able to use net operating loss carryforwards, which could result in lower profits.

If we are unable to raise capital when needed in the future, we may be unable to execute our growth
strategy, and if we succeed in raising capital, we may dilute investors’ percentage ownership of our
common stock or may subject our company to interest payment obligations and restrictive covenants.

We may need to raise additional funds through public or private debt or equity financings in order to:
* fund ongoing operations;

+ take advantage of opportunities, including more rapid expansion of our business or the acquisition of
complementary preducts, technologies or businesses;
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« develop new products; and
+ respond to competitive pressures.

Any additional capital raised through the sale of equity may dilute investors’ percentage ownership of our
common stock. Capital raised through debt financing would require us to make periodic interest payments and
may impose polentially restrictive covenants on the conduct of our business. Furthermore, additional financings
may not be available on terms favorable to us, or at all. A failure to obtain additional funding could prevent us
from making expenditures that may be required to grow or maintain our operations.

Risks Related to Regulation of Use of Qur Service

We derive a significant portion of our revenues from the sale of our service for use in the collections
process, and our business and operating results could be substantially harmed if new U.S, federal and
state laws or regulatory interpretations in one or more jurisdictions either make our service unavailable
or less attractive for use in the collections process or expose us to regulation as a debt collector.

Revenues from clients in the collection agencies industry and large in-house, or first-party, collection
departments represented 83% of our revenues in 2007, 80% of our revenues in 2006 and 67% of our revenues
in 2005. These clients’ use of our service is affected by an array of complex federal and state laws and
regulations. The U.S. Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, or FDCPA, limits debt collection communications by
clients in the collection agencies industry, including third parties retained by creditors. For example, the
FDCPA prohibits abusive, deceptive and other improper debt collection practices, restricts the timing and
content of communications regarding a debt or a debtor’s location, and allows consumers to opt out of
receiving debt collection communications. In general, the FDCPA also prohibits the use of debt collection calls
to cause debtors to incur more debt. Many states impose additional requirements on debt collection
communications, including limits on the frequency of debt collection calls, and some of those requirements
may be more stringent than the comparable federal requirements. Moreover, regulations governing debt
collection calls are subject to changing interpretations that may be inconsistent among different jurisdictions.
QOur business, financial position and operating results could be substantially harmed by the adoption or
interpretation of U.S. federal or state laws or regulations that make our service either unavailable or less
attractive for debt collection communications by existing and potential clients.

We provide our service for use by creditors and debt collectors, but we do not believe that we are a debt
collector for purposes of these U.S. federal or state regulations. An allegation by one or more jurisdictions that
we are a debt collector for purposes of their regulations could cause existing or potential clients not to use our
service, harm our reputation, subject us to administrative proceedings, or result in our incurring significant
legal fees and other costs. If it were to be determined that we are a debt collector for purposes of the
regulations of one or more jurisdictions, we could be exposed to government enforcement actions and
regulatory penalties and would be subject to additional rules, including licensing and bonding requirements.
The costs of complying with these rules could be substantial, and we might be unable to continue to offer our
service for debt collection communications in those jurisdictions, which would have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and operating results. In addition, if clients use our service in violation of
limits on the content, timing and frequency of their debt collection communications, we could be subject to
claims by consurmers that result in costly legal proceedings and that tead to civil damages. fines or other
penalties.

We could be subject to significant penalties or damages if our clients violate U.S. federal or state
restrictions on the use of artificial or prerecorded messages to contact wireless telephone numbers, and
our business and operating results could be substantially harmed if those restrictions make our service
unavailable or less attractive for use in the collections process.

Under the U.S. Telephone Consumer Protection Act, it is unlawful to use an automatic telephone dialing
system or an artificial or prerecorded message to contact any cellular or other wireless telephone number,
unless the recipient previously has consented to receiving this type of message or is not charged for the
message. Our service involves the use of artificial and prerecorded messages. Although our service is designed
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to enable a client to screen a contact list to remove wireless telephone numbers, a client may determine that
voice or text messages to certain wireless telephone numbers are permitted because the recipients previously
have consented to receiving artificial or prerecorded messages. We cannot ensure that, in using our service for
a campaign, a client removes from its contact list the names of all persons who are associated with wireless
telephone numbers and who have not consented to receiving artificial or prerecorded messages or, in particular,
that the client properly interpreis and applies the exemption for recipients who have consented to receiving
such messages. Many states have enacted similar restrictions on using automatic dialing systems and artificial
and prerecorded messages to contact wireless telephone numbers, and some of those state requirements may
be more stringent than the comparable federal requirements. If clients use our service in a manner thai violates
any of these regulations, federal or state authorities may seek to subject us to regulatory fines or other
penalties, even if the violation did not result from a failure of our service. If clients use our service to screen
for wireless telephone numbers and our screening mechanisms fail, we may be subject to regulatory fines or
other penalties as well as contractual claims by clients for damages, and our reputation may be harmed.

Regulatory restrictions on artificial and prerecorded messages present particular problems for businesses
in the collection agencies industry. These third-party collection agencies and debt buyers do not have direct
relationships with the consumer debtors and therefore typically do not have the ability to obtain from a debtor
the consent required to permit the use of artificial or prerecorded messages in contacting a debtor at a wireless
telephone number. These businesses’ lack of a direct relationship with debtors also makes it more difficult for
them to evaluate whether a debtor has provided such a consent. For example, a collection agency frequently
must evaluate whether past actions taken by a debtor, such as providing a cellular telephone number in a loan
application, constitute consent sufficient to permit the agency to contact the debtor using artificial or
prerecorded messages. Moreover, a significant period. of time elapses between the time at which a loan is
made and the time at which a collection agency or debt buyer seeks to contact the debtor for repayment,
which further complicates the determination of whether the collection agency or debt buyer has the required
consent to use artificial or prerecorded messages. The difficulties encountered by these third-party collection
businesses are becoming increasingly problematic as the percentage of U.S. consumers using celiular
telephones continues to increase. If these third-party collection businesses are unable to use artificial or
prerecorded messages to contact a substantial portion of their debtors, our service will be less useful to them,
If our clients in the collection agencies industry significantly decrease their use of our service, our business,
financial position and operating results would be substantially harmed.

We could be subject to penalties if we or our clients violate federal or state telemarketing restrictions due
to a failure of our service or otherwise, which could harm our financial position and operating results.

The use of our service for marketing communications is affected by extensive federal and state
telemarketing regulation. The Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act and Telephone
Consumer Protection Act, among other U.S. federal laws, empower both the Federal Trade Commission, or
FTC, and the Federal Communications Commission, or FCC, to regulate interstate telephone sales calling
activities. The FTC’s Telemarketing Sales Rule requires us to transmit Caller ID information, disclose certain
information to call recipients and retain business records. This rule proscribes misrepresentations, prohibits the
abandonment of telemarketing calls and limits the timing of calls to consumers. If we fail to comply with
applicable FTC telemarketing regulations, we may be subject to substantial regulatory fines or other penalties
as well as contractual claims by clients for damages, and our reputation may be harmed. The FTC'’s
Telemarketing Sales Rule, for example, imposes fines of up to $11,000 per violation. If clients use our service
in a manner that violates any of these telemarketing regulations, the FTC may seek to subject us to regulatory
fines or other penalties, even if the violation did not result from a failure of our service.

In addition, FCC and FTC regulations restrict the use of automatic telephone dialing systems, predictive
dialing techniques, and artificial or prerecorded voice messages for a wide variety of purposes, including
telemarketing calls. In particular, those regulations prohibit an organization from using artificial or prerecorded
voice messages in a telemarketing call unless the organization has an established business relationship, or
EBR, with the recipient. We cannot ensure that, in using our service for a campaign, a client removes from its
contact list the names of all persons with whom the client does not have an EBR or that the client properly
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interprets and applies the EBR exemption. If clients use our service to place unauthorized calls or in a manner
that otherwise violates EBR restrictions, U.S. federal or state authorities may seek to subject us to substantial
regulatory fines or other penalties, even if the violation did not result from a failure of our screening
mechanisms. In October 2006, the FTC requested public comments on a proposal that would have eliminated
the EBR exemption, thereby broadening the restrictions on automated telemarketing calls. In December 2006,
the FTC announced that it would postpone any implementation of the proposal and, to date, has taken no
further action on it. We are unable to predict whether, or when, the FTC may determine to implement such
proposal. If the FT'C implements the proposal, or if it otherwise narrows or repeals the EBR exemptions, our
operating results could be adversely affected and our future growth prospects could be severely harmed.

Many states have enacted prohibitions or restrictions on telemarketing calls into their states, specifically i
covering the use of automatic dialing systems and predictive dialing techniques. Some of those stale
requirements are more stringent than the comparable federal requirements. If clients use our service in a
manner that violates any of these telemarketing regulations, state authorities may seek to subjzct us to
regulatory fines or other penalties, even if the violation did not result from a failure of our service. ‘

To the extent that our service is used to send e-mail or text messages, our clients will be, and we may be,
affected by regulatory requirements in the United States. Organizations may determine not to use these |
channels because of prior consent, or opt-in, requirements or other regulatory restrictions, which could harm
our future business growth.

Our failure to comply with numerous and overlapping information security and privacy requirements
could subjecr us to fines and other penalties as well as claims by our clients for damages, any of which
could harm our reputation and business.

Qur collection; use and disclosure of personal information are affected by numerous privacy, security and
data protection regulations. We are subject to the FTC’s Gramm-Leach-Bliley Privacy Rule when we receive
nonpublic personal information from clients that are treated as financial institutions under those rules. These
rules restrict disclosures of consumer information and limit uses of such information to certain purposes that i
are disclosed to consumers. The related Gramm-Leach-Bliley Safeguards Rule requires our financial institution
clients to impose administrative, technical and physical data security measures in their contracts with us.
Compliance with these contractual requirements can be costly, and our failure to satisfy these requirements
could lead to regulatory penaltles or contractual claims by clients for damages.

Some of our services require us to receive consumer information that is protected by the Fair Credit
Reporting Act, which defines permissible uses of consumer information furnished to or obtained from
consumer reporting agencies. We generally rely on our clients’ assurances that any such information is
requested and used for permissible purposes, but we cannot be certain that our clients comply with these
restrictions. We could incur costs or could be subject to fines or other penalties if the FTC detzrmines that we
have mishandled protected information.

Many jurisdictions, including the majority of states, have data security laws including data security breach
notification laws. When our clients operate in industries that have specialized data privacy and security
requirements, they may be subject to additional data protection restrictions. For example, the federal Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, or HIPAA, regulates the maintenance, use and disclosure of
personally identifiable health information by certain health care-related entities. States may adopt privacy and
security regulations that are more stringent than federal rules. If we experience a breach of data security, we
could be subject to costly legal proceedings that could lead to civil damages, fines or other penalties. We or
our clients could be required to report such breaches to affected consumers or regulatory authorities, leading to
disclosures that could damage our reputation or harm our business, financial position and operating results.

We may record certain of our calls for quality assurance, training or other purposes. Many staies require
both parties to consent to such recording, and may adopt inconsistent standards defining what type of consent
is required. Violations of these rules could subject us to fines or other penalties, criminal liability, or claims by
our clients for damages, any of which could hurt our reputation or harm our business, financial position and
operating results.
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It may be impossible for us to comply with the different data protection regulations that affect us in
different jurisdictions. For example, the USA PATRIOT Act provides U.S. law enforcement authorities certain
rights to obtain personal information in the control of U.S. persons and entities without notifying the affected
individuals. Some foreign laws, including some in Canada and the European Union, prohibit such disclosures.
Such conflicts could subject us and our clients to costs, liabilities or negative publicity that could impair our
ability to expand our operations into some countries and therefore-limit our future growth.

Any expansion of our business into international markets would require us to comply with additional debt
collection, telemarketing, data privacy or similar regulations, which could make it costly or difficult to
operate in these markels.

Qur clients are located principally in the United States, with a limited number located in Canada and the
United Kingdom. We may determine to commence or expand our operations in one or more other countries.
Any such country may have laws and regulations governing debt collection, telemarketing, data privacy or
other communications activities comparable in purpose to the U.S. and state laws and regulations_described
above. Compliance with these requirements may be costly and time consuming, and may limit our ability to
operate successfully in one or more foreign jurisdictions.

For example, our current telemarketing activities in the United Kingdom are affected by a comprehensive
telemarketing regulation, including a prohibition on calls to numbers on the UK’s national do-not-call registry,
the Telephone Preference Service. Canada has also decided to establish a similar national do-not-call registry
to be implemented by September 30, 2008. The Canadian Radio-Television and Telecommunications Commis-
sion, or CRTC, already requires telemarketers to maintain their own do-not-call lists, and the CRTC prohibits
the use of automatic dialing and announcing devices for solicitations except in limited circumstances.

Outside of the United States, our business is likely to be subject to more stringent data protection
regulations. For example, the Canadian Personal Information Protection and Electronics Documents Act and
similar Canadian provincial laws restrict the use, collection, and disclosure of personal information, require
security safeguards, and could require contractual commitments in our client contracts. The European Union
Directive on Data Protection and national implementing laws restrict collection, use and disclosure of perscnal
data in EU countries and prohibits transfers of this information to the United States unless specified
precautions are implemented.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

Because our common stock has been traded publicly only for a limited time and our stock price might be
volatile, investors might lose some or all of their investments.

Prior to the completion of our initial public offering, cur commeon stock could not be bought or sold
publicty. We cannot predict the extent to which investors’ interests will fead to an active trading market for
our common stock or the extent to which the market price of our common stock will be volatile in the future.
The trading prices of common stock of newly public technology companies have often been highly volatile
and varied significantly from their initial public offering prices, The trading price of our common stock could
decrease significantly,

In the past, securities class action litigation often has been initiated against a company following a period
of volatility in the market price of the company’s securities. If class action litigation is initiated against us, we
will incur substantial costs and our management’s attention will be diverted from our operations. All of these
factors could cause the market price of our stock to decline, and investors could ose some or all of their
Investments,

If equity research analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they issue
unfavorable commentary or downgrade our common stock, the price of our common stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that equity research
analysts publish about our company and business. The price of our stock could decline if one or more equity
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research analysts downgrade our common stock or if those analysts issue other unfavorable commentary or
cease publishing reports about our company and business.

Future sales of our common stock by existing stockholders could cause our stock price to decline.

If our existing stockholders sell substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, the
market price of our common stock could decrease significantly. The perception in the public market that our
stockholders might sell shares of common stock could also depress the market price of our common stock.
The holders of substantially all of the shares of common stock outstanding immediately prior to the initial
public offering are subject to lock-up agreements that restrict their ability to transfer their cormon stock
through approximately April 29, 2008. Upon expiration of the lock-up agreements, an additional
9,789,181 shares of our common stock will be eligible for sale in the public market. In addition, we intend to
file registration statements with the SEC covering all of the shares of common stock subject to options
outstanding, or available for future issuance under our stock incentive plans. The market price: of shares of our
common stock could drop significantly when the contractual and statutory restrictions on resale by our existing
security holders lapse and those holders are able to sell shares of our common stock into the market.

Our directors, executive officers and their affiliated entities will continue to have substantial control over
us and could limit the ability of other stockholders to influence the outcome of key transactions, including
changes of control,

As of December 31, 2007, our executive officers, directors and their affiliated entities, in the aggregate,
beneficially owned 56.8% of our outstanding common stock. In particular, affiliates of North Bridge Ventures
Partners, including James A. Goldstein, one of our directors, in the aggregate, beneficially owned 31.1% of
our outstanding common stock. Our executive officers, directors and their affiliated entities, if acting together,
are able to control or significantly influence all matters requiring approval by our stockholders, including the
election of directors and the approval of mergers or other significant corporate transactions. These stockholders
may have interests that differ from those of other investors, and they might vote in a way with which other
investors disagree. The concentration of ownership of our common stock could have the effect of delaying,
preventing, or deterring a change of control of our company, could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity
to receive a premium for their common stock as part of a sale of our company, and couid negatively affect the
market price of our common stock.

Our corporate documents and Delaware law make a takeover of our company more difficult, which could
prevent certain changes in control and limit the market price of our common stock.

Qur charter and by-laws and Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law contain provisions
that could enable our management to resist a takeover of our company. These provisions could discourage,
delay, or prevent a change in the control of our company or a change in our management. They could also
discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for stockholders to elect directors and take other
corporate actions. The existence of these provisions could limit the price that investors are willing to pay in
the future for shares of our common stock. Some provisions in our charter and by-laws couid deter third
parties from acquiring us, which could limit the market price of our common stock.

We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain
any future earnings and do not expect to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, investors
are not likely to receive any dividends on their common stock in the foreseeable future, and their ability to
achieve a return on their investment will therefore depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

In May 2007 we entered into a lease for 37,000 square feet of office space for our headquarters in
Bedford, Massachusetts. The term of the lease commenced as of September 17, 2007 and will expire in
September 2013. We have the option to extend the lease term through September 2018, We also have two
lease agreements relating to our former corporate headquarters facilities in Burlington, Massachusetts. Each of
these leases expires in May 2008. We vacated these premises in September 2007.

In addition, we serve our clients from three third-party hosting facilities as follows:

Location Owner Operator Date Agreement Expires

Ashburn, VA .. ........ ... ... ... Equinix InterNap October 2008

Somerville, MA .. ................ InterNap InterNap November 2008

Toronto, Canada . ................. Pier 1 Network  Pier | Network  August 2008
Enterprises Enterprises

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On October 17, 2007, our counsel and counsel for the underwriters of our initial public offering received
a letter on behalf of Universal Recovery Systems, Inc., or URS, alleging that our on-demand AVM solution
(a) may be in violation of specified patents owned by URS and (b) would be in violation of U.S. patent claims
filed by URS in May 2007 in a pending patent application. The letter stated that URS would consider selling
to us the referenced patents and patent application, which generally relate to specified methodologies for right-
party contact telephone systems, prior to the completion of our initial public offering. The letier also stated
that URS would wait until October 24, 2007 before making a similar offer to one of our competitors. On
Qctober 19, 2007, we filed a lawsuit in the federal district court in Massachusetts in which we requested (a) a
declaration that we do not infringe any valid and enforceable claim of any of the existing U.S. patents
specified in the URS leuer and (b) a judgment that URS and its affiliate Blake Rice improperly interfered with
our business, including our initial public offering. On October 23, 2007, URS filed a Statement of Non-
Liability in the lawsuit, by which URS and Blake Rice covenant not to assert any claim of patent infringement
against us (or any of our controlled affiliates, customers or authorized users) under such existing U.S. patents
with respect to our on-demand AVM products currently or previously marketed or sold in the United States.
URS’s Statement of Non-Liability does not address the claims of URS with respect to the specified U.S. patent
application or two U.K. patents specified in the URS letter, In response to URS’ filing of the Statement of
Non-Liability, we withdrew our request for declaratory judgment with respect to the existing U.S. patents
specified in the URS letter and we added a claim under the Massachusetts Consumer Protection Act alleging
unfair and deceptive acts and practices by URS in connection with the URS letter.

On November 5, 2007, URS filed an Amended Motion to Dismiss, asserting that the U.S. District Court
for the District of Massachusetts lacked subject matter and personal jurisdiction over this matter and that we
failed to state a cognizable claim. We opposed the motion to dismiss. The Court held a hearing on
November 27, 2007, at which it denied URS’s Amended Motion to Dismiss, set a schedule for pretrial
discovery, and a trial date in May, 2008. On February 5, 2008, URS filed a Motion for Summary Judgment
directed at all pending claims. We opposed this motion in an opposition brief filed on February 29, 2008, and
the Court scheduled a hearing on the motion for April 15, 2008.

Pretrial discovery is ongoing in this matter.  'We would defend vigorously against any claim of
infringement by URS regarding the pending U.S. patent application and the existing U.K. patents. The claims
of the referenced patent application have not been published or examined by the U.S. Patent and Trademark
Office, and URS currently has no enforceable patent rights with respect to the subject matter of the claims of
the referenced patent application. Because the application may not be allowed or, if allowed, may have claims
of a scope materially different from the pending claims, we are unable to evaluate the effect, if any, that any
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claims that are ultimately allowed will have on our business or results of operations. See “Item 1A — Risk"
Factors — Our product development efforts could be constrained by the intellectual property of others, and we
could be subject to claims of intellectual property infringement, which could be costly and time-consuming.”

We are not currently a party to any other material litigation. The customer communications industry is
characterized by frequent claims and litigation, including claims regarding patent and other intellectual
property rights as well as improper hiring practices. As a result, we may be involved in various legal
proceedings from time to time.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

On October 16, 2007, aur stockholders executed a written consent approving each of the matters
identified immediately below. Stockholders holding an aggregate of 8,621,492 shares of stock out of
10,277,151 shares entitled to vote on the matters, including in each case shares of convertible preferred stock
(voting with our common stock as a single class on an as-converted basis), executed the written consent in
accordance with Section 228 of the Delaware General Corporation Law.

1. Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation to, among other things:

(a) provide that our authorized capitalization shall consist of 75,000,000 shares of common stock
and 51,513,420 shares of preferred stock;

(b) provide for 5,000,000 authorized undesignated shares of preferred stock;

(c) provide that 75% of the outstanding shares of common stock will be required to amend our By-
laws;

(d) provide a staggered board of directors; and

(e} provide that stockholders may not take action by written consent and may not call a special
meeting of stockholders,

2. Amended and Restated Centificate of Incorporation to, among other things:
{a) eliminate all references to our designated Series Preferred Stock; and

{b) amend the provisions relating to the indemnification of, and limitation on liability of, our officers
and directors.

3, Amended and Restated By-Laws to, among other things:
(a) provide a staggered board of directors;

(b) provide that stockholders may not take action by written consent and may not call a special
meeting of stockholders;

{c) establish procedures relating to the presentation of stockholder proposals at stockholders
meetings; and

(d) establish procedures relating to the nomination of directors.

4. Approve our 2007 Stock Incentive Plan that, among other things, authorizes the issuance of
1,500,000 shares of common stock in accordance with the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan.

5. Approve a form of indemnification agreements to be entered into with our directors and officers, and
authorize us to enter into such agreements with our directors and officers and perform our obligations thereunder.
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PART 11

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities
Market Price of Common Stock
Our common stock has been traded on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “SDBT” since
Navember 6, 2007. Prior to that time, there was no established public trading market for our common stock.

The following table presents the high and low sale prices of our common stock as reported by the Nasdaq
Global Market, for the period indicated.

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2007 ' High Low
Fourth quarter (from November 6, 2007). ... ... oot $8.25  $5.50

The last sale price of the common stock on February 15, 2007, as reported by Nasdaq Global Market,
was $5.38 per share. As of February 15, 2007, there were 54 holders of record of the common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and currently expect to retain
future earnings for use in our business for the foreseeable future.

During this period, we also issued 38,453 shares of common stock to employees and former employees
pursuant 1o the exercise of stock options for cash consideration with aggregate exercise proceeds of
approximately $16,000. These issuances were undertaken in reliance upon the exemption from registration
requirements of Rule 701 or Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 and appropriate legends were affixed
to the share certificates issued in these transactions. All recipients had adequate access, through their
relationships with us, to information about us.

In November through December of 2007, we completed an initial public offering of common stock
pursuant to a Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-142144) which the SEC declared
effective on November 1, 2007. Pursuant to the registration statement, we registered the offer and sale of an
aggregate of 5,982,325 shares of our common stock, at an initial public offering price to the public of $8.00
per share, of which 4,717,022 shares were sold by us and 485,000 shares were sold by certain stockholders in
an initial closing on November 6, 2007, and a further 230,000 shares were sold by us in connection with the
underwriters’ exercise of the option described below, each such sale at the initial public offering price to the
pubtic. The underwriters exercised their option to purchase the additional 230,000 shares of our common stock
on November 30, 2007, which shares were sold by us in a subsequent closing on December 5, 2007. The
offering terminated following the sale of the underwriters’ option shares, with 550,303 registered shares unsold
at the termination of the offering. The underwriters for the offering were Cowen and Company, LLC; Thomas
Weisel Partners LL.C; Needham & Company, LLC; Cantor Fitzgerald & Co.; and America’s Growth Capital.

We raised a total of $39.6 million in gross proceeds from the initial public offering, or approximately
$33.5 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $2.8 million and
other estimated offering costs of approximately $3.3 million. The selling stockholders received a total of
approximately $3.9 million in gross proceeds from the initial public offering or approximately $3.6 million of
net proceeds after deducting the underwriting discounts.

In connection with the offering no payments were made to directors, officers or persons owning ten
percent or more of our common stock or to their associates, or to our affiliates, other than proceeds from the
offering to those selling stockholders who are officers of the company in respect of their shares sold in the
offering, and payments in the ordinary course of business to officers for salaries and to non-employee directors
as compensation for board or board committee service.

On November 9, 2007, we paid the outstanding principal and accrued interest under our existing loan and
security agreement in full with $2.2 million of the net proceeds received from our initial public offering. The
remainder of the net proceeds were primarily invested in money market accounts. None of the remaining net
proceeds were paid, directly or indirectly, to directors, officers, persons owning ten percent or more of our

+ equity securities, or any of our other affiliates.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

During the quarter ended December 31, 2007, there were no repurchases made by us or on our behalf, or
by any “affiliated purchasers,” of shares of our common stock.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table summarizes the financial data for our business and is derived from the Company’s
historical consolidated financial statements. You should read the selected financial data in conjunction with our
historical consolidated financial statements and related notes and “Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
(In thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues . . ... . e $39,492 $29.069 §16.448 $7.754 $ 3,266
Costofrevenues . ......... ... . 14,258 9,505 4967 2,750 2,007
Grossprofit. . ... ... ... . . 25,234 19,564 11,481 5,004 1,259
Operaling expenses:

Research and development. . . ..................... 3,913 3,453 2,097 1,208 1,529

Salesand marketing. . ... .......... ... .. .. ... ..., 14,702 12,172 5888 2,715 2,147

General and administrative. . ... ... ... ..., 5,999 3,820 2,221 1,714 2,327

Total operating expenses . ...................... 24,614 19445 10,206 5637 6,003

Operating income (loss). . ....... ... ... ... ... .... 620 119 1,275 (633) (4,744)
Other income {cxpense):” )

Interest income . ........... it 476 299 149 12 10

Interest expense. . .. ... . ... ... .., (222) (398) {(264) (245) (369)

Warrant charge for change in fair value . ... ... ....... (352) {177 — — —

Other,net .. ... .. i — 6 o — —

Total other expense, net ... ... .................. (98) (270) (115) (233) (359)

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes and

cumulative change in accounting . .................. 522 (s 1,160 (866) (5,103)
Provision for income taxes. . . ....... ... ... ... .. .. ... 56 — — — —
Income (loss) before cumulative change in accounting . . . .. 466 (151) 1,160 (B66) (5,103)
Cumulative change in accounting. .. .................. — 28 — — —
Netincome (10SS) .. .. ... ... i, 466 (123) 1,160 (866) (5,103)
Accretion of preferred stock . ...... ... .. . .. ... 3D (44) 24) — —
Deemed dividend . ........... ... ..., — — —_ (117 —
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders. . . .. $ 420 5 (167 $ 1,136 $ (983) $(5.103)
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Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
(In thousands, except per share data)
Income (loss) per common share:
Basic:
Before cumulative change in accounting . .. ......... $ 015 $ (035 % 241 $(2.14) $(16.46)
Cumulative change in accounting . .. ... ........... $ — $ 0058 — 8% — % —
Net income (loss) attributable to common
stockholders. . ...ttt e e e $ 015 % (0.30) § 241 $(2.14) $(16.46)
Diluted: :
Before cumulative change in accounting . . .. ........ $ 003 % (035 % 0.13 $(2.14) $(16.40)
Cumulative change in accounting ... .............. $ — $ 0058 — 5% — % -—
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders. . . . . $ 003 § (030) $ 013 $(2.14) $(16.46)
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
BasiC. .t e 2,860 557 471 459 310
Diluted . ... e 12,778 557 9,045 459 310
As of December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents. .. ................ $35674 $ 7251 § 9529 % 2179 0§ 723
Working capital ... ..., ... 39,920 7,566 8,981 1,403 (735)
Total assets. . .ot it e 50,489 18,229 17,385 4,703 2,423
Total indebtedness, including current portion . . . .. — 3,544 3,478 1,911 1,564
Redeemable convertible preferred stock. .. ... ... — 30,788 31,076 22619 19,542
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) ............ 46,165 (19,765 (19,716}  (20.867y  (19.887)
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with our financial statements and related notes
appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K. In addition to historical information, this discussion contains forward-
looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions that could cause our actual results to
differ materially from our expectations. Factors that could cause such differences include those described in
“Item 1A — Risk Factors” above and elsewhere in this report.

Overview

SoundBite Communications is a leading provider of on-demand automated voice messaging, or AVM,
solutions. Organizations can employ our service to initiate and manage customer contact campaigns for a
variety of collections, customer care and marketing processes. We sell our service through our direct sales
force. Since January 1, 2007, cur service has been used by more than 200 organizations in the collection
agencies, financial services, retail, telecommunications and utilities industries. Qur clients are: located
principally in the United States, with a limited number located in Canada and the United Kingdom.

Our strategy for long-term, sustained growth in our revenues and net income is focused on building upon
our leadership in the AVM market and using our on-demand platform to extend our service by, for example,
developing new features and complementary services targeted to specific industries. We derive, and expect to
continue to derive for the foresceable future, a substantial portion of our revenues by providing our on-demand
AVM service to businesses, governments and other organizations. In order to succeed, we also must expand
the depth and number of our client relationships. We will continue our efforts to expand our presence in
collection agencies and large in-house, or first-party, collection departments, while beginning to leverage our
existing first-party relationships with large businesses to facilitate introductions and sales to other functional
groups within those businesses. In order to execute our strategy successfully, we must increase awareness of
the relative effectiveness and potential benefits of AVM products and services in general and of our company
and service in particular.

Background

We were founded in Delaware in April 2000 and raised $7.3 million through an issuance of preferred
stock in June 2000. We initially developed and offered “telemail” messaging, a telephonic service we designed
to enable one-way voice messages to be recorded, transmitted and forwarded, in a manner similar to e-mail.
We introduced our telemail service in October 2000 and generated our initial revenue in the first quarter of
2001,

In 2001, seeking to capitalize on the evolving market for prerecorded message technologies and the newly
emerging market for software provided as a service, we began to leverage our interactive voice messaging
technology to develop and offer a broader service that could automate and optimize organizations’ customer
contact campaigns. Between 2001 and 2003, we raised a total of $12.3 million through the issuance of
preferred stock, the proceeds of which we invested in expanding our research and development organization
and sales and marketing activities. We introduced new versions of our service in August 2001, September
2002 and March 2003 that provided our clients with a web-based user interface and a range of additional
features and incremental functionality.

In 2004, we initiated a sales and marketing program focused on third-party collection agencies, which
depend on voice messaging and other customer contact methods to drive revenue and are receptive to testing
and deploying new contact technologies. We raised an additional $3.0 million through the issuance of
preferred stock in January and July 2004, In August 2004, we introduced version 5.0 of our service, which
received a 2004 Product of the Year Award from Customer Inter@ction Solutions magazine.

In 2005 and 2006, we continued to expand our presence in collection agencies. We also began to build on
our referenceable client base of collection agencies in order to target large in-house, or first-party, collection
departments in industries, such as telecommunications, characterized by the need for regular interactions with
large customer bases. Our sales and marketing organization hired 14 personnel in 2005 and 24 personnel in
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2006, as we invested in a direct sales force and marketing communications group that could help us build
upon our third-party collection agency client base and could enable us to penetrate first-party collection
departments. In June 2005, we raised $8.5 million through the issuance of preferred stock. In August 2006, we
introduced version 6.0 of our service, which provided an improved user interface and introduced features for
improved campaign strategy management. Version 6.0 of our service was given Call Center Magazine’s
Annual Call Center Excellence “Best of Show” Award, was named to Collection Advisor Magazine's Top 100
Collection Technology Products of 2006 and was awarded a Customer Inter@ction Solutions 2006 Product of
the Year Award.

In 2007, we updated the 6.0 platform to enhance security and scalability and added a customer-accessible
compliance management module. In November 2007 we raised $33.5 million, net of offering costs, in an
initial public offering of our common stock.,

Revenues

Usage-based Fees. We derive substantially all of our revenues by providing our on-demand AVM
service to businesses, governments and other organizations. Clients use our service to deliver AVM calls over
existing telephony networks. We provide our service under a usage-based pricing model, with prices calculated
on a per-message or, more typically, per-minute basis in accordance with the terms of the current pricing
agreement with each client. The amount we charge for AVM calls may vary based upon whether the call is
one-way, two-way or agentless and the total volume of calls by a client during a calendar month. We invoice
clients on a monthly basis. Qur pricing agreements with clients do not require minimum levels of usage or
payments. Our clients typically use our service multiple times, providing us with a recurring revenue stream
that contributes to revenue visibility.

Because we provide our solution as a service, we recognize revenue in accordance with SEC Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements. Each executed AVM call
represents a transaction from which we derive revenue, and we therefore recognize revenue based on actual
usage within a calendar month. For all of our AVM calls, we do not recognize revenue until we can determine
that persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable and
we deem collection to be probable.

The usage-based pricing model is attractive to clients because it limits the risks of their adoption of our
service and assurés them that we have a strong incentive to provide expected benefits. They are not required
to commit to minimum usage levels or to pay a subscription fee in order to have access to our service. While
clients value the potential to discontinue or reduce use of our service at any time, the usage-based pricing
model also allows our customers to discontinue or reduce their use of our service at any time in their
discretion, which could affect our revenues adversely. The usage-based pricing model, unlike many subscrip-
tion pricing models, allows us to generate additional revenues as existing clients increase their level of usage
of our service over time. In addition, the usage-based pricing model addresses the fact that we use significant
levels of telephony services to provide our on-demand services, and the telephony charges represent a
significant variable cost of revenues for the provision of our service.

A high percentage of our revenue stream from quarter to quarter is recurring. For example, 87.3% of
revenue generated from our top 50 customers during the fourth quarter of 2007 came from customers that
generated revenue during the third quarter of 2007. Similarly, 88.3% of revenue generated from our top 50
customers during the fourth quarter of 2006 came from customers that generated revenue during the third
quarter of 2006.

Fees for Ancillary Services. Our client management organization assists clients in selecting service
features and adopting best practices that help clients make the best use of our on-demand service. The
organization provides varying levels of support through these ancillary services, from managing an entire
campaign to supporting self-service clients. In some cases, ancillary services may be billed to clients based
upon a fixed fee or, more typically, a fixed hourly rate. These billed ancillary services typically are of short
duration. We recognize tevenue from these billed ancillary services. within the calendar month in which the
ancillary services are completed. S
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Revenues attributable to ancillary services represented 1.6% of our revenues in 2007, 2.4% of our
revenues in 2006 and 4.3% of our revenues in 2005 and are expected to constitute less than 3% of our annual
revenues for the foreseeable future. Because of their past and anticipated immateriality, revenues attributable
to ancillary services are not presented as a separate line item in our statements of operations.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues consists primarily of telephony charges, as well as depreciation expenses for our
telephony infrastructure and expenses related to hosting and providing support for our platform. Cost of
revenues also includes compensation costs related to billed services provided to our clients, which consists
primarily of set-up costs and training to ensure clients are able to fully utilize the functionality provided by
our platform. As we continue to grow our business and add features and complementary services to our
platform, we expect cost of revenues will continue to increase on an absoluie dollar basis. Our gross margin
ranged from 63.9% to 69.8% for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007. We currently are
targeting a quarterly gross margin of 62% to 65% for the foreseeable future. Qur gross margin for a quarter
may vary significantly from our target for a number of reasons, including the mix of types of AVM calling
campaigns executed during the quarter and the extent to which we build our infrastructure through, for
example, significant acquisitions of hardware or material increases in leased data center facilities,

Operating Expenses

Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist primarily of compensation
expenses and depreciation expense of certain equipment related to the development of our services. We have
historically focused our research and development efforts on improving and enhancing our platform as well as
developing new features and functionality. We expect that in the future, research and development expenses
will increase on an absolute dollar basis, but will remain relatively constant or decrease slighily as a
percentage of revenues, as we upgrade and extend our service offerings and develop new technologies.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of compensation for our sales and
marketing personnel, including sales commissions, as well as the costs of our marketing programs, In order to
attract new clients and increase sales to our existing clients, we made significant investments in our sales and
marketing efforts by increasing the number of direct sales, client management and marketing personnel in
2005, 2006 and 2007. We plan to further develop our marketing strategy and activities to extend brand
awareness and generate additional leads for our sales staff. As a result, we expect that our sales and marketing
expenses will increase on an absolute dollar basis, but will decrease as a percentage of revenues, as we further
leverage the growth in our sales and marketing organization.

General and Administrative.  General and administrative expenses consist of compensation expenses for
executive, finance, accounting, administrative and management information systems personnel, accounting and
legal professional fees and other corporate expenses. We expect that during 2008 and for some period of time
thereafter, general and administrative expenses will increase on an absolute doltar basis, as we incur additional
costs associated with being a public company. In particular, we will incur costs to implement and maintain
new financial systems and to hire additional personnel to enable us to meet our financial reporting and
regulatory compliance requirements, including those under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We expect general and
administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues in 2008 will be consistent with 2007 as the result of these
public company expenses, but in subsequent years will decrease as we grow our revenues,

Critical Accounting Policies

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States. The preparation of our financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, costs and expenses and related disclosures. On an
ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and assumptions. Our actual results may difter from these estimates
under different assumptions or conditions.
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We believe that of our significant accounting policies, which are described in the notes to our financial
statements, the following accounting policies involve a greater degree of judgment, complexity and effect on
materiality. A critical accounting policy is one that both is material to the presentation of our financial
statements and requires us to make difficult, subjective or complex judgments for uncertain matters that could
have a material effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Accordingly, these are the policies
we believe are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our financial condition and results
of operations.

Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to 2006, we accounted for stock options granted to employees using the intrinsic value method in
accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued io Employees, or
APB Opinion No. 25, and Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, Interpretation No. 44, Accounting
for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation, an Interpretation of APB Opinion No. 25. The
intrinsic value represents the difference between the per share market price of the stock on the grant date and
the per share exercise price of the related stock option. We typically grant stock options to employees for a
fixed number of shares with an exercise price equal to the fair value of the shares at the grant date. In
accordance with APB Opinion No. 25, no compensation expense was recorded for employee stock options
granted at an exercise price equal to the fair value of the underlying stock on the grant date. For stock options
granted with an exercise price less than the fair value of the underlying stock on the grant date, we recognized
compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting pertod.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the provisions of the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123 {revised 2004), Share-Based Payment, or SFAS No. 123R. Under SFAS No. 123R, stock-based
compensation costs with respect to an employee are measured at the grant date, based on the estimated fair
value of the award on the grant date, and are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the
employee’s requisite service period, which generally is the vesting period. We adopted the provisions of
SFAS No. 123R using the prospective transition method. Under this transition method, non-vested option
awards outstanding prior to January 1, 2006 continued to be accounted for in accordance with APB Opinion
No. 25. We account for all awards granted or modified on or after January 1, 2006 using the measurement,
recognition and attribution provisions of SFAS No. 123R.

Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair value of stock-based payment
awards require the use of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected life of the stock-based
payment awards and stock price volatility. We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value our option
grants and determine the related compensation expense. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of
stock-based payment awards represent management’s best estimates, but the estimates involve inherent
uncertainties and the application of management judgment. If factors change and we use different assumptions,
our stock-based compensation expense could be materially different in the future.

Because we have not had company-specific historical or implied volatility information prior to our initial
public offering, we have estimated our expected volatility based on that of our publicly traded peer companies
and expect to continue to do so until such time as we have compiled adequate historical data from our actual
share price. The comparable peer companies selected are publicly traded companies with operations similar to
ours, as determined by an unrelated valuation specialist. We believe the historical volatility of our common
stock price does not best represent the expected future volatility of our common stock price. We intend to
continue 1o use the same group of publicly traded peer companies consistently in order to determine volatility
in the future, until such time that sufficient information regarding the volatility of our common stock price
becomes available or that the selected companies are no longer suitable for this purpose.

The risk-free interest rate used for each grant was equal to the monthly seven-year U.S. Treasury bill rate,
the term of which approximates the expected life of the option.

The expected term of options granted was determined based on the simplified method in accordance with
SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin, or SAB, No. 107, Share-Based Payment, in which the expected term is equal
to the average of the vesting term and the original contractual term.
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The stock price volatility and expected terms utilized in the calculation of fair values involve
management’s best estimates at that time, both of which impact the fair value of the option calculated under
the Black-Scholes methodology and, ultimately, the expense that will be recognized over the life of the option.
SFAS No. 123R also requires that we recognize compensation expense for only the portions of options that are
expected to vest. We therefore are required to estimate expected forfeitures of stock options. In developing a
forfeiture rate estimate, we have considered our historical experience, our growing employee base and prior to
our JPQ, the limited liquidity of our common stock. If the actual number of forfeitures differs from those
estimated by management, additional adjustments to compensation expense might be required in future
periods.

Compensation expense associated with share-based awards totaled $318,000 for 2007 and $59,000 for
2006. These amounts were based on awards ultimately expected to vest and reflected an estimate of awards
that would be forfeited. The total compensation cost under SFAS No. 123R related to share-based awards
granted to employees and directors but not yet amortized, net of estimated forfeitures, was $1.0 million as of
December 31, 2007. These costs will be amortized on a straight-line basis over a weighted average pertod of
3.28 years for 2007.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We regularly assess our ability to collect outstanding client invoices and in so doing must make estimates
of the collectibility of accounts receivable. We provide an allowance for doubtful accounts when we determine
that the collection of an outstanding client receivabie is not probable. We specifically analyze accounts
receivable and historical bad debt experience, client creditworthiness, and changes in our client payment
history when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts, If any of these factors change,
our esiimates may also change, which could affect the levels of our future provision for doubtful accounts.

Income Taxes

We are subject to federal and various state income taxes in the United States, and we use estimates in
determining our provision for these income taxes. Deferred tax assets, related valuation allowances, current tax
liabilities and deferred tax liabilities are determined separately by tax jurisdiction. In making these determina-
tions, we estimate tax assets, related valuation allowances, current tax liabilities and deferred tax liabilities and
we assess temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes.
At December 31, 2007, our deferred tax assets consisted primarily of federal net operating loss carryforwards,
state research and development credit carryforwards, and temporary differences. We assess the likelihood that
deferred tax assets will be realized, and we recognize a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that
some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. This assessment requires judgment as to the
likelihood and amounts of future taxable income by tax jurisdiction. At December 31, 2007, we had a full
valuation allowance against our deferred tax asset. Although we believe that our tax estimates are reasonable,
the ultimate tax determination involves significant judgment that is subject to audit by tax authorities in the
ordinary course of business.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth selected statements of operations data for 2007, 2006 and 2005 indicated as
percentages of revenues.

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

Statement of Operations Data:

REVENMUES © . v o oottt e e e s 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
CoSt Of TBVENUES . . . . ottt et ettt e 36.1 32.7 30.2
GroSs MATEIN . o\ v vt et et e et e e s 63.9 67.3 69.8
Operating expenses: .

Research and development ............. ... .ol 99 1.9 12.8

Salesand marketing . ... ... .. ... . 372 41.9 358

General and administrative . ............ .......... e 15.2 13.1 13.5

Total OPErating EXPEMSES . . . o oot v v v vee e e eets s 623 669  62.1

Operating iNCOME . . . . ..o vttt it i ettt e aaeneaenn 1.6 04 7.8
Total other eXpense, NEt . ... ... v ittt it cne e 0.3) . (0.9 (0.7)
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes and cumulative change in

ACCOUNKING . . ..ot i e i - L3%  (0.5) 7.1
Provision fOr inCoOmMe taXes . . . ... v r vt it i it 0.1 — —
Income {loss) before cumulative change in accounting. . .............. 1.2 (0.5 7.1
Cumulative change in accounting . .. ............ ... . o — 0.1 —

Netincome (JOSS) . .. .o oottt i e P 1.2% (040)% 7.1%

Comparisen of Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

Revenues
2007 2006 Year-to-Year Change
Percentage of Percentage of Percentage
Amount Revenues Amount Revenues Amount Change
(Dollars in thousands)
Revenues ........... $39,492 100.0% $29,069 100.0% $10,423 \ 359%

The $10.4 million growth in revenues in 2007 reflected an increase of $6.5 million in revenues from
existing clients and an increase of $3.9 million in revenues from new clients, The increased revenues were due
to our increased volume driven by our continued hiring of additional sales and support personnel, who focus
on increasing usage of our service by existing clients and adding new clients. The increase in revenues
resulting from higher calling volume was partially offset by a shift in product mix to unattended voice
messaging, which has a lower pricing structure.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit

2007 2006 Year-to-Year Change
Percentage of Percentage of Percentage
Amount Revenues Amount Revenues Amount Change
{Dollars in thousands)
Cost of revenues . ... ... $14,258 36.1% $ 9,505 32.7% $4,753 50.0%
Gross profit .......... 25,234 63.9 19,564 67.3 5,670 29.0
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The $4.8 million increase in cost of revenues in 2007 consisted of direct costs associated with our efforts
to grow both current and future revenues. These direct costs consisted primarily of (a) a $2.6 million increase
in telephony expense, (b) an $865,000 increase in depreciation expense due to additions to our infrastructure,
{c) a $703,000 increase in hosting costs resulting from the addition of a Canadian hosting siiz and expansion
at existing hosting locations and (d) a $272,000 increase in support and maintenance costs. The decrease in
gross margin in 2007 as compared to 2006 reflected a relative increase in telephony charges attributable to the
product mix of AVM calling campaigns and a relative increase in depreciation expense and hosting costs due
to the buildout of our infrastructure.

Operating Expenses

2007 2006 Year-to-Year Change
Percentage of Percentage of Percentage
Amount Revenues Amount Revenues Amount Change

(Dollars in thousands)

Research and

development . ....... $ 3913 9.9% $ 3,453 11.9% 3 460 13.3%
Sales and marketing . ... 14,702 37.2 12,172 41.9 2,530 20.8
General and

administrative , ... ... 5,999 15.2 3,820 13.1 2,179 57.0
Total operating

eXpenses . .. ... ... .. $24,614 62.3% $19,445 66.9% $5,169 26.6%

Research and Development. The $460,000 increase in research and development expenses in 2007
reflected a $579,000 increase in employee compensation costs mostly attributable to the addition of 5 research
and development personnel. We hired these personne!l to further develop and improve our platform and to
perform quality control activities. Offsetting the additional compensation expense is the capitalization of
$181,000 of labor costs to property and equipment for the development of internal use software. See
“Development of Software for Internal Use” in note 2 to the financial statements included elsewhere herein.

Sales and Marketing. The $2.5 million increase in sales and marketing expenses in 2007 resulted
primarily from a $2.4 million increase in employee compensation costs mostly attributable to the addition of
17 sales and support personnel and an increase in sales commissions due to higher revenues. This increase

reflected our focus on further developing brand awareness, increasing the usage of our service by existing
clients, and adding new clients. For additional information, see “— Overview — Operating Expenses — Sales
and Marketing.”

General and Administrative.  The $2.2 million increase in general and administrative expenses in 2007
consisted principally of (a) a $751,000 increase in employee compensation costs due to the addition of
personnel, (b) a one-time charge of $435,000 from the write-off of leasehold improvements and future rent
and related maintenance expense due to the vacating of leased space at our former corporate headquarters, (c) a
$420,000 increase in legal fees due to additional costs of being a public company and our lawsuit with URS,
and (d) a $404.000 increase in audit and tax related professional fees, also due to becoming a public company,
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Operaiing and Other Income

2007 2006 Year-to-Year Change
Percentage of Percentage of Percentage
Amount Revenues Amount Revenues Amount Change
{Dollars in thousands)
Operating income. . ... ... $ 620 1.6% $119 0.4% $ 501 421.0%
Other income (expense):
Interest income . . ... ... 476 1.2 299 1.0 177 56.2
Interest expense .. ... .. (222) (0.6) (398) (1.3) 176 50.8
Warrant charge for
change in fair value. . . (352) (0.9 (7h (0.6) (175) *
Other, net............ — = 6 0.0 (6) *
Total other expense, net . . . (98) (0.3) (270) 0.9 172 63.7
Income(loss) before
provision for income
taxes and cumulative
change in accounting ... § 522 1.3% 5(151) (0.5)% 673 445,7%

* Not meaningful

Increased interest income in 2007 reflected both an increased average balance of cash and cash
equivalents and higher interest rates on our cash and cash equivalents balances. Interest expense decreased due
1o the payoff of our outstanding debt during the year.

In 2007, we recorded a charge of $352,000 to reflect the increase in fair value of our freestanding
preferred stock warrants from January 1, 2007 to November 6, 2007, the closing date of our IPO, in
accordance with the guidance of FSP 150-5. See “— Critical Accounting Policies — Freestanding Preferred
Stock Warrants” and notes 2 and 8 to the financial statements appearing elsewhere herein.

Net Income (Loss)

We recognized net income of $466,000 in 2007 and net loss of $151,000 in 2006. This difference
principally reflects the increase in our revenues in 2007 as discussed above, and a decrease in our operating
expenses as a percentage of revenue. An income tax provision of $56,000 was recorded in 2007 compared to
$0 in 2006, primarily due to having taxable income in 2007. Qur tax provision, which was reduced by net
operating loss carryforwards, consists of federal alternative minimum tax and state income tax in states where
we did not have net operating loss carryforwards to offset taxable income.

4
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Revenues
2006 2005 Year-to-Year Change
Percentage of Percentage of Percentage
Amount Revenues Amount Revenues Amount Change
(Dollars in thousands)
Revenues . .......... $29,069 100.0% $16,448 100.0% 512,621 76.7%

The $12.6 million growth in revenues in 2006 reflected an increase of $9.2 million in revenues from
existing clients and an increase of $3.4 million in revenues from new clients. The increased revenues were due
to our hiring of additional sales and support personnel, who focus on increasing usage of our service by
existing clients and on adding new clients. The average rate per minute charged to clients in 2006 was
unchanged from 2005.
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Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit

2006 2005 Year-to-Year Change
Percentage of Percentage of Percentage
Amount Revenues Amount Revenues Amouni Change
. {Dollars in thousands)
Cost of revenues . . .. ... $ 9,505 32.7% $ 4,967 30.2% $4,538 91.4%
Gross profit .......... 19,564 67.3 11,481 69.8 8,083 70.4

The $4.5 million increase in cost of revenues in 2006 consisted of direct costs associated with our efforts
to grow both current and future revenues. These direct costs consisted primarily of a $2.3 million increase in
telephone expenses, a $1.1 million increase in depreciation expense due to additions to our infrastructure, and
a $775,000 increase in direct employee compensation costs resulting from the addition of 6 operations
personnel during 2006.

As a result of the steps we took in building our infrastructure and increasing our headcount to support
future revenue growth, depreciation expense and direct employee compensation costs increased at a faster rate
than revenues in 2006. As a result, our gross margin decreased.

Operating Expenses

2006 2005 Year-to-Year Change
Percentage of Percentage of Percentage
Amount Revenues Amount Revenues Amount  Change
(Dollars in thousands)
Research and development . .......... $ 3,453 11.9%  § 2,097 12.8%  $1,356 64.7%
Sales and marketing . . ......... ... .. 12,172 419 5,888 358 6,284 106.7
General and administrative ., ... ...... 3,820 13.1 2,221 13.5 1,599 72.0
Total operating expenses . ... ....... $19.,445 66.9%  $10,206 62.1%  $9,239 90.5%

Research and Development. The $1.4 million increase in research and development expenses in 2006
consisted principally of a $1.3 million increase in employee compensation costs. attributable to the addition of
9 research and development personnel during 2006, We hired these personnel to further develop and improve
our platform and to perform quality control activities.

Sales and Marketing. The $6.3 million increase in sales and marketing expenses in 2006 resulted
primarily from (a) a $4.2 million increase in employee compensation costs attributable to the addition of
6 marketing personnel, 6 direct sales personnel, and 12 sales and support personnel, (b) a $790,000 increase in
travel and entertainment costs, and (c) a $647,000 increase in trade show and similar expenses, including
expenses incurred in connection with our first user group meeting. These increased expenses reflected our
focus on further developing brand awareness, increasing the usage of our service by existing clients, and
adding new clients. For additional information, see “— Overview — Operating Expenses — Sales and
Marketing.”

General and Administrative.  The $1.6 million increase in general and administrative expenses in 2006
consisted principally of (a) a $689,000 increase in employee compensation costs attributable to the addition of
6 personnel during 2006, (b) a $581,000 increase in professional service costs related to increased business
activity, and (c) a $254,000 increase in rent and facility costs related to additional office space required to
support our growth.




Operating and Other Income

2006 2005 Year-to- Year Change
Percentage of Percentage of Percentage
Amount Revenues Amount Revenues Amount Change
(Dollars in thousands)
Operating income . ............. $119 0.4% $1,275 71.8% $(1,155) (90.7Y%
Other income {(expense):
Interest income !............. 299 1.0 149 0.9 149 99.3
Interest expense . .. .. ... ... (398) (1.3) (264) (1.6) (134) 50.8
Warrant charge for change in fair
value .. ... .o (77 0.6) —_ — (177 *
Other, net, . ... ... . . o 6 &Q —_ = 6 *
Total other expense, net . ......... (270) (0.9) (115) 0.7 (155) 136.8
Income before provision for income
taxes and cumulative change in
accounting . . ...l $(151) 0.5)% $1,160 7.1% $(1,311) *

* Not meaningful

Increased interest income in 2006 reflected both an increased average balance of cash and cash
equivalents and higher interest rates on our cash and cash equivalents balances. Interest expense increased due
to higher interest rates and a higher average balance of debt outstanding.

In 2006, we recorded a charge of $177,000 to reflect the increase in fair value of our freestanding
preferred stock warrants from January 1, 2006 to December 31, 2006, in accordance with the guidance of
ESP 150-5. See “— Critical Accounting Policies — Freestanding Preferred Stock Warrants” and notes 2 and 8
to the financial statements appearing elsewhere herein,

Cumulative Change in Accounting

Upon adoption of FSP No. 150-5 on January 1, 2006, we reclassified the fair value of our freestanding
preferred stock warrants from equity to a liability and recorded a cumulative change in accounting of a benefit
of $28,000. See “— Critical Accounting Policies — Freestanding Preferred Stock Warrants” and notes 2 and 8
to the financial statements appearing elsewhere herein.

Net Income (Loss)

We recognized a net loss of $123,000 in 2006 and net income of $1.2 million in 2005. This difference
principally reflected the decreased gross margin and increased operating expenses in 2006 discussed above,
including the $6.3 million increase in sales and marketing expenses. :

Liquidity and Capital Resources .
Resources

Since our inception, we have funded our operations primarily with proceeds from issuances of preferred
stock, borrowings under credit facilities and, more recently, cash flow from operations and the proceeds from
our initial public offering.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents, our cash flow from operating activities, borrowings
available under our existing credit facility and the net proceeds of our initial public offering will be sufficient
to meet our anticipated cash needs for at least the next twelve months, Qur future working capital requirements
will depend on many factors, including the rates of our revenue growth, our introduction of new features and
complementary services for our on-demand service, and our expansion of research and development and sales
and marketing activities. To the extent our cash and cash equivalents, cash flow from operating activities, and
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net proceeds of our initial public offering are insufficient to fund our future activities, we may need to raise
additional funds through bank credit arrangements or public or private equity or debt financings. We also may
need to raise additional funds in the event we determine in the future to effect one or more acquisitions of
businesses, technotogies and products. If additional funding is required, we may not be able to obtain bank
credit arrangements or to effect an equity or debt financing on terms acceptable to us or at all.

Equity Sales

In June 2000, shortly after our company was founded, we raised $7.3 million of gross proceeds through
sales of shares of our Series A convertible preferred stock. We generated an additional $11.5 million of gross
proceeds through the issuance of shares of our Series B and C convertible preferred stock between 2001 and
2003. In January and July 2004, we sold shares of our Series C convertible preferred stock for aggregate
proceeds of $3.0 million. In June 2003, we issued shares of our Series D convertible preferred stock for gross
proceeds of $8.5 million. All of the shares of our preferred stock will convert into common stock upon
completion of this offering. In addition, we received proceeds from exercises of common stock options in the
amount of $16,000, $56,000 and $15,000 in 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

On November 6, 2007, we completed an initial public offering of 4,947,022 shares of our common stock,
including 230,000 shares sold pursuant to the underwriters’ exercise of their over-allotment option on
December 5, 2007, at a price of $8.00 per share. We raised $36.8 millicn after deducting the underwriting
discount of $2.8 million. Other direct expenses attributable to the initial public offering totaled $3.3 million,

Credit Facilitv Borrowings

In July 2007, we entered into a loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank that provides for an
equipment line of credit up to $7.5 million and a revolving working capital line of credit for up to the lesser
of (a) $1.5 million and (b) 80% of eligible accounts receivable, subject to specified adjustments. Borrowings
under the equipment line of credit are payabie in instaliments due through July 2010, and all amounts under
the working capiltal line of credit are due in July 2008. Borrowings under the equipment line bear interest at a
rate per annum €qual to the prime rate plus 0.5% or 1.0%, depending upon our liquidity, as defined.
Borrowings under the working capital line bear interest at a rate per annum that is (.25% above the prime
rate. The prime rate was 7.25% per annum at December 31, 2007, All of the borrowings under the loan and
security agreement are secured by a pledge of certain of our equipment and all of our accounts receivable,
investment property and financial assets. On November 9, 2007, we paid the outstanding principal and accrued
interest under the loan and security agreement in full with $2.2 million of the net proceeds received from our
initial public offering.

Until August 2007, we were party to a loan and security agreement with Comerica Bank that provided for
an equipment line of credit up to $3.8 million and a revolving working capital line of credit up to $1.0 million,
with a borrowing base of 80% of eligible accounts receivable, In August 2007, we refinanced all of the then-
outstanding debt under the Comerica Bank loan and security agreement with borrowings under the Silicon
Valley Bank equipment line of credit.

Operating Cash Flow

The following table sets forth our net cash flows from operations:
As of December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating aclivities. . . ... .................... $3277 3750 $426

Our operating activities generated net cash in the amount of $3.3 miilion in 2007, reflecting (a) a net
income of $466,000, (b) non-cash charges of $3.7 million consisting primarily of depreciation expense of
$2.9 million and a preferred stock warrant charge of $352,000 and (c) an increase in accrued expenses and
accounts payable of $1.3 million. These changes reflected the growth in our business, the timing of payments
to our vendors and our compliance with the guidance of FSP 150-5. These changes were partially offset by an
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increase in accounts receivables of $1.4 million due to the revenue growth in our business and an increase of
$699,000 in prepaid expenses and other current assets.

Our operating activities generated net cash in the amount of $750,000 in 2006, reflecting (2) a net loss of
$123,000, (b) non-cash charges of $2.3 million consisting primarily of depreciation expense and (c) an
increase in accrued expenses and accounts payable of $1.2 million. These changes resulted primarily from the
growth in our business and the timing of payments to vendors. These changes were partiaily offset by an
increase in accounts receivables of $2.4 million due to the revenue growth in our business and an increase of
$278.000 in prepaid expenses and other current assets.

Our operating activities generated net cash in the amount of $426,000 in 2005, reflecting (a) net income
of $1.2 million, (b) non-cash charges of $1.0 million consisting primarily of depreciation expense and {(c) an
increase in accrued expenses and accounts payable of $638,000. These changes resulted primanily from the
growth in our business and the timing of payments to our vendors. These changes were partially offset by an
increase in accounts receivables of $2.2 million due to the revenue growth in our business and an increase of
$197,000 in prepaid expenses and other current assets.

Working Capital

The following table sets forth selected working capital information:

As of December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands)
Cashand cashequivalents . . . ... ... .. .. it iinanan $35674  $7.251  $9,529
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts. . . ... .. 7,261 5,921 3,655
Working capital . . . ... L 39,920 7.566 8,981

Qur cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2007 were unrestricted and held for working capital
purposes. They were invested primarily in money market funds, We do not enter into investments for trading
or speculative purposes.

Our accounts receivable balance fluctuates from period to period, which affects our cash flow from
operating activities. Fluctuations vary depending on cash collections, client mix and the volume of monthly
usage of our service. We use days’ sales outstanding, or DSO, calculated on an annual basis, as a measurement
of the quality and status of our receivables. We define DSQ as (a) accounts receivable, net of allowance for
doubtful accounts, divided by revenues for the most recent year, multiplied by (b) the number of days in the
year, Our DSO was 67 days at December 31, 2007, 74 days at December 31, 2006 and 81 days at
December 31, 2005.

Reguirements
Capital Expenditures

In recent years, we have made capital expenditures primarily to acquire computer hardware and software
and, to a lesser extent, furniture and leasehold improvements, to support the growth of our business. Qur
capital expenditures totaled $4.8 million in 2007, $3.1 million in 2006 and $3.1 million in 2005. We intend to
continue to invest in our infrastructure to ensure our continued ability to enhance our platform, introduce new
features and complementary services, and maintain the reliability of our network. We also intend to make
investments in computer equipment and systems and fixed assets for new offices as we move and expand our
facilities, add additional personnel, and continue to grow our business. We expect our capital expenditures for
these purposes will total approximately $4.5 million in 2008. We are not currently party to any purchase
contracts related to future capital expenditures.
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Contractual Obligations and Requirements

The following table sets forth our commitments to settle contractual obligations as of December 31,
2007:

Less Than ltod Jtos More Than

1 Year Years Years 5 Years Total
{Dollars in thousands)
Operating leases — office space. . ... ............. $ 663 51,601 $1,748 $690 $4,702
Operating leases — hosting facilities .............. 1,078 34 — — 1,112
Total. .. ... $1,741 $1,635 $1,748 $690 $5,814

Our operating leases include a lease for our headquarters in Bedford, Massachusetts and two leases for
our former corporate headquarters in Burlington, Massachusetts. The leases for our former corporate
headquarters expire in May 2008. We vacated these premises in September 2007.

We also have various other contractual obligations related to our third-party hosting facilities.

Effects of Inflation

Inflation and changing prices have not had a material effect on our business since January 1, 2005, and
we do not expect that inflation or changing prices will materially affect our business in the foreseeable future.
However, the impact of inflation on replacement costs of equipment, cost of revenues and operating expenses,
primarily employee compensation costs, may not be readily recoverable in the price of services offered by us.

Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2007, we did not have any significant off-balance-sheel arrangements, as defined in
Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K of the SEC.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, which defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.
SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We will adopt this standard on
Janvary 1, 2008, The standard is not expected to have a material impact on our financial statements,

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities, Including and Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115. SFAS No. 159 allows entities to
measure many financial instruments and certain other assets and liabilities at fair value on an instrument-by-in-
strument basis (the fair value option). The fair value option expands the ability of entities to select the
measurement attribute for certain assets and liabilities. We will adopt SFAS No. 159 as of January 1, 2008.
This standard is not expected to have a material impact on our financial statements.

In December 2007, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 110 (SAB 110). SAB 110 expresses the
views of the staft regarding the use of the “simplified” method in developing an estimate of expected term of
“plain vanilla” share options and allows usage of the “simplified” method for share option grants prior to
December 31, 2007. SAB 110 allows public companies which do not have historically sufficient experience to
provide a reasonable estimate to continue use of the “simplified” method for estimating the expected term of
“plain vanilla™ share option grants after December 31, 2007. We curreatly use the “simplified” method to
estimate the expected term for share option and will continue to do so until there has been sufficient historical
experience to provide a reasonable estimate of expected term. SAB 110 is effective for the Company on
Janvary 1, 2008,

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations”, SFAS No.
141(R) establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial
statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, any noncontrofling interest in the acquiree,
and the goodwill acquired. SFAS No. 141(R} also establishes disclosure requirements to enable the evaluation
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of the nature and financial effects of the business combination. We will be required to adopt SFAS No. 141(R)
in the first quarter of fiscal year 2009. Adoption of SFAS No. 141(R) will have no effect on our reported
financial information prior to adoption and will be applicable to any business combination into which we enter
after adoption.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position due to adverse changes in
financial market prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily the result of fluctuations in interest
rates. We do not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes.

At December 31, 2007, we had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents totaling $35.7 million. These amounts
were invested primarily in money market funds. The unrestricted cash and cash equivalents were held for working
capital purposes. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes. Due to the short-term nature
of these investments, we believe that we do not have any material exposure to changes in the fair value of our
investment portfolio as a result of changes in interest rates. Declines in interest rates, however, would reduce future
investment income. A hypothetical one percent decrease in interest rates would result in a $357,000 decrease in
annualized interest income assuming a constant balance outstanding of $35.7 million in cash and cash equivalents.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this item may be found on pages F-1 through F-23 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A(T). Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2007. The term “disclosure
controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls
and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a
company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures
include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed
by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated
to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures,
no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives
and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls
and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2007, our
chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level,

No change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
occurred during the three months ended December 31, 2007 that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likety to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

This annual report does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over
financial reporting or an attestation report of the Company's independent registered public accounting firm due
to a transition period established by rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission for newly public
companies. At the end of the fiscal year 2008, Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act will require our
management to provide an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, and
our independent registered public accounting firm will be required to audit management’s assessment.
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Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required under this Ttem will be incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy
statement for the 2008 annuai meeting.
Item 11. FExecutive Compensation

The information required under this Item will be incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy
statement for the 2008 annual meeting,
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

The information required under this Item will be incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy
statement for the 2008 annual meeting.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required under this Item will be incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy
statement for the 2008 annual meeting,
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required under this [tem will be incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy
statement for the 2008 annuat meeting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of SoundBite Communications, Inc.
Bedford, Massachusetts

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of SoundBite Communications, Inc. and
subsidiaries (the “Company’) as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 21, 2007. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur
responsibilily is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance ahout whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Qur
audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounis and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2007 the Company
adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes. Also as discussed in note 2, effective January 1, 2006 the Company adopted the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123( R), Share-Based Payment, and Financial Accounting
Standards Board Staff Position No. 150-5, fssuer’s Accounting under FASB Statement No. 150 for Freestanding
Warrants and Other Similar Instruments on Shares that are Redeemable.

s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 11, 2008
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SOUNDBITE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,

2007

2006

(In thousands, except
share and per share

amounts)
ASSETS
Current assets;
Cash and cash equivalents . . ... .. ... it it i e e $35674 § 7,251
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $176 and $88 at
December 31, 2007 and . 2006. . .. ... ... e e e 7,261 5,921
Prepaid expenses and other current assets. . . ... ... ittt e i 1,309 610
Total CUMTENT ASSEIS . . v v vttt et et ettt e et e e 44244 13,782
Property and equipment, met .. .. .. ... ... .. ... 6,096 4447
L. 11 T= gl E — 149 -
TOtAl ASSEES . . . o oo e e e e -$ 50,489 $ 18,229
LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED
STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
Bank line of credit . .. ... ... . .o... % — § 889
Equipment line of credit —current portion. . ... ... ... ... . o oL — 1,666
Accounts payable . .. .. e e 457 633
ACCTUBd EXPeNSES . . . o\t it e e e e e e e 3,867 2,546
Preferred stock warrant liability . . ... .. ... ... . . — 482
Total current labilities . . . . .. . .. .. e 4,324 6,216
Non-current liabilities:
Equipment line of credit —net of current portion. . ... ........ ... ... ........ — 950
Total HHabities. . .. o e e e e e e e 4,324 7,206
Commitments and contingencies (note 6)
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value — at carrying value; no
shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2007, 46,513,420 shares
authorized and 45,779,304 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2006,
liquidation preference of $30,430,000 and redemption value of $30,208,000 at
December 31, 2006 . . ... . . e e e e e — 30,788
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):
Common stock, $0.001 par value — 75,000,000 shares authorized; 15,420,888 shares
issued and 15,225,503 shares outstanding at December 31, 2007; 821,471 shares
issued and 626,086 shares outstanding at December 31,2006 ................ 15 |
Additional paid-incapital . ... ... .. .. e 65,720 274
Treasury stock, at cost — 195,385 shares at December 31, 2007 and 2006 .. ........ (132} (132)
Accumulated other comprehensive income. . .. ... ... .. . o e 4 —
Accumulated deficit ... .. ... .. e e (19,442) (19,908)
Total stockholders” equity (deficit). . .. ... ... . .. ... . e 46,165 (19,765)
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity
(defICit) . . e e $ 50,489 % 18,229

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SOUNDBITE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

ReVeNUES . .. e e
Costofrevenues .. ... .. i e

Gross profit. .. ... . e

Operating expenses:

Research and development . . ... ........................
Sales and marketing. . . . ... ... L.
General and administrative. . ........ ... ... ... ...

Total operating exXpenses. . . . ... ...t

Operating inCome . .. ...ttt it e

Other income (expense):

INterest INCOME . . . . ... .t e e e
INterest EXPenSe . . . . v v vt it e e e e
Warrant charge for change in fairvalue . ........... .......
Other, NEL . .. e e e

Total otherexpense, net . ... ... ... inr s

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes and cumulative

change maccounting . .. ...... ... ... .. ... i
Provision for income taxes. . . ... ... .. ...

Income (loss) before cumulative change in accounting .. ... ... ..
Cumulative change in accounting. . .. ......................

Netincome ([0SS) . ... i r i i e e e
Accretion of preferred stock. .. ...... ... ... .. L oL

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhelders. . .........

Income {loss) per common share:
Basic:

Before cumulative change in accounting. .. .................
Cumulative change inaccounting . . . ......................
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhelders. ... ... ..

Diluted:

Before cumulative change in accounting. . ... ... ... .. .. ..
Cumulative change inaccounting . .. ......................
Net income (loss) attributable to commion stockholders . ... ... ..

Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic ... e e e

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31,

2007

2006

2005

(In thousands, except share
and per share amounts)

39492  $ 29,069 $ 16,448
14,258 9,505 4,967
25,234 19,564 11,481
3,913 3,453 2,097
14,702 12,172 5,888
5,999 3,820 2,221
24,614 19,445 10,206
620 119 1,275
476 299 149
(222) (398) (264)
(352) (177) —
_ 6 —
(98) (270) (115)
522 (151) 1,160
56 — —
466 (151) 1,160
_ 28 —
466 (123) 1,160
37 (44) (24)
429 $ (167 $ 1,136
015 $ (035 $ 241
T — 0§ 005 % —
015 $ (030) $ 24l
003 $ (035 $  0.13
— § 005 % —
003 $ (030) $ 0.3
2,859,797 557,063 470,539
12,778,255 557,063 9,044,567




SOUNDBITE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

Common Stock

Accumulated
Additional Other Total

Paid-In  Treasury Comprehensive Accumulated Shareholders’
Shares Amount Capital Stock Income Deficit Equity (Deficit)
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Balance, January 1, 2005 ...... 658288 %1 % 207 $(131) 35— $(20,945) $(20,868)
Issuance of common stock for ' '
warrant and options
CXEICISES . o o v v e 41,948 — 15 — — — 15
Accretion of transaction costs for .
preferred stock . ........... U — (24) — — — (24)
Comprehensive and net income . . _ — — — 1,160 1,160
Balance, December 31, 2005. . .. 700,236 1 198 (13D — (19,785 (19,711
Issuance of common stock for
option exercises. . .......... 121,235 — 56 — — — 56
Purchase of treasury stock. . . ... - — — (1 — — ()
Accretion of transaction costs for
preferred stock .. .......... —_— = (44) - - — (44)
Stock-based compensation
BXPENSE. . .ottt —_— = 64 — — — 64
Comprehensive and net loss . . .. - — — — — (123) (123)
Balance, December 31, 2006. . .. 821,471 1 274 (132) — (19,908) (19,765)
Initial public offering, net of
offering costs . ............ 4,947,022 4 33500 — — — 33,504
Conversion of preferred stock
into common stock . ... ... .. 9,613,942 10 30,815 — — —_ 30,825
Issuance of common stock for
option exercises. . .......... 38453 — 16 — — — 16
Accretion of transaction costs for
preferred stock .. .......... —- — 37N — — — 37
Stock-based compensation
EXPENSE. . . ... .. ... - — 318 — — — 318
Reclassification of preferred
stock warrant liability . ... ... —_ - 834 — — — 834
Comprehensive income:
Netincome. .............. —_ — —_ — — 466 466
Translation adjustments . . .. .. - — — — 4 - 4
Comprehensive income . .. ... .. — — — = — 470
Balance December 31, 2007 .... 15420,888 3§15 $65.720 $(132) $4 $(19,442) $ 46,165

|
H
|

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SOUNDBITE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
{In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income (10SS) . . v ottt e e $ 466 % (123) $ 1,160
Adjustments to reconcile net income (foss) to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment. . . ........... 2,869 1,947 842
Allowance for doubtful accounts .. ...................... e 56 147 123
Change in fair value of preferred stock warrant liability .. ............. 352 177 —
Cumulative change in accounting. .. .......... ot innnnnnn — 28) —_
! Stock-based compensation. . ... ... Lo i o 318 64 —
Noncash charge attributable towarrants . . ... ...................... — 22 55
| Loss on disposal of property and equipment. . . ..................... 132 — 19
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
- Accounts receivable. . . ... ... .. e e (1,396 (2,414) (2,214)
| Prepaid expenses and other current assets. . .. .......... ... ....... (699) (278) (197
O her 85688, . . ittt i e e e e e (149) — —
Accounts payable ... ... ... ... L 7 139 45
Accrued BXPENSES . . ... e e e 1,32] 1,097 593
Net cash provided by operating activities . . . .................. ... 3,277 750 426
i Cash flows from’ investing activities:
‘ Purchases of property and equipment. . ... ... ... . i 4,833y (3,149) (3,082)
g Net cash used in investing activities. ... ........ ... ..o, (4,833) (3,149 (3,082)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from equipment and bank line of credit. .. ................. 2,345 1,467 2,248
Repayments of equipment and bank line of credit .. ................. (58900  (1,401) (681)
Treasury stock purchase . ......... ... it — (1) —
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock . ........... ... ... .. ... — — 8,424
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon initial public offering, net
of offering costs ... ... ... . e e 33,504 — —
Proceeds from issuance of commeon stock upon exercise of stock options . . 16 56 15
Net cash provided by financing activities . .. ..................... 29.975 121 10,006
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents .. .......... 4 — —
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .. ................. 28,423 (2,278) 7,350
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year. . .. ........ ... ... ...... 7,251 9,529 2,179
Cash and cash equivalents,end of year ... ....... ... ... . .. otiann $35,674 $7251 § 9,529

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period:

31 (- S $§ 250 § 326 § 171
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities: :

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock. . .......... e $ 37 § 44 § 24

Property and equipment, included in accounts payable . . .............. $§ B $ 265 $ 869

Reclassification of fair value of preferred stock warrant liability . ........ 5 — $ 332 § —

Reclassification to equity of fair value of preferred stock warrant liability. . $ 834 § — § —

Conversion of redeemable preferred stock to common stock. .. ......... $30825 $ — §$ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SOUNDBITE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. NaTure or BUSINESS

SoundBite Communications, Inc. {the Company) develops and markets on-demand automated voice
messaging (AVM) solutions that are delivered over existing telephony networks. The Company’s services are
primarily used to initiate and manage customer contact campaigns for collections, customer care and marketing
processes. The Company was incorporated in Delaware in 2000 and its principal operations are located in
Bedford, Massachusetts. The Company conducts its business primarily in the United States.

In November 2007, the Company completed an initial public offering of the Company’s common stock.
The Company’s shares of common stock trade on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “SDBT” (see
Note 9).

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of SoundBite Communications, Inc. and its
wholly owned subsidiaries, SoundBite Communications Canada, Inc., which was incorporated in August 2007
and SoundBite Communications Security Corporation, which was incorporated in December 2007. All
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The functional currency of the Company’s foreign operations is the local currency of the country in which
the operation is located. The assets and liabilities of these foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars
using the exchange rate at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated using average rates for
the period. Adjustments arising dve to the application of the translation method are recorded to accumulated
other comprehensive income, a component of stockholders’ equity.

Segment Data
The Company manages its operations on a consolidated, single segment basis for purposes of assessing
_ performance and making operating decisions. Accordingly, the Company has only one reporting segment.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of net income or loss and foreign currency translation adjustments,

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company invests its cash in money market accounts, debt securities of .8, government agencies,
repurchase agreements with maturities of less than 90 days, and commercial paper from high-quality corporate
issuers. All highly liquid instruments with a remaining maturity of 90 days or less when purchased are
considered cash equivalents.
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SOUNDBITE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances.
Management reviews accounts receivable on a periodic basis to determine if any receivables will potentially
be uncollectible. Estimates are used to determine the amount of the allowance for doubtful accounts necessary
to reduce accounts receivable to its estimated net realizable value. These estimates are made by analyzing the
status of significant past due receivables and by establishing general provisions for estimated losses by
analyzing current and historical bad debt trends. Actual collection experience has not varied significantly from
estimates, due primarily to credit and collection policies and the financial strength of the Company’s clients.
Receivables that are ultimately deemed uncollectible are charged off as a reduction of receivables and the
allowance for doubtful accounts.

Activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts was as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

Balance, beginning. . ... ... ... e £88 $114 § 5
Provision forbad debts. . .. ... ... ... .. 56 147 123
Net uncollectible accounts recovered (writtenoff) . ... ................ 32 (173) {(14)
Balance, end . ... ... ... e $176 $ B8 $114

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentration of credit risk
consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents and accounts receivable. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the
Company had cash balances at certain financial institutions in excess of federally insured limits. However, the
Company does not believe that it is subject to unusual credit risk beyond the normal credit risk associated
with commercial banking relationships.

Accounts receivable are typically uncollateralized and are derived from revenues earned from clients
primarily located in the United States. Management does not believe significant risk exists in connection with
concentration of accounts receivable credit at December 31, 2007, As of December 31, 2007, three clients in
the aggregate accounted for 41% of the outstanding accounts receivable and as of December 31, 2006, two
clients in the aggregate accounted for 24% of the outstanding accounts receivable. In each of 2007, 2006 and
2005, the Company had two customers which accounted for more than 10% of revenue. Revenue from one
customer represented approximately 17% of revenue in 2007, 16% in 2006, and 19% in 2005. Revenue from a
second customer were 12% in 2007, 10% in 2006 and 13% in 2005.

Development of Software for Internal Use

The Company accounts for the costs of computer software developed or obtained for internal use in
accordance with Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or
Obtained for Internal Use”. The Company capitalizes costs of materials, consultants, payroll and payroll
related costs for employees incurred in developing internal-use software after certain capitalization criteria are
met. These costs are included in computer software in Note 3 below. Amounts capitalized related to internal
use software totaled $229,000 and 30 for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost and are depreciated over the assets estimated useful life,
generally three years, using the straight-line method. Depreciation of leasehold improvements is recorded over
the shorter of the estimated useful life of the leasehold improvement or the remaining lease term. Expenditures
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SOUNDBITE COMMUNICATIONS, INC,

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations when incurred, while additions and betterments are
capitalized. When assets are retired or disposed, the asset’s original cost and related accumulated depreciation
are eliminated from the accounts and any gain or loss is reflected in the statement of operations.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets to be held and used are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. When required, impairment losses on
assets to be held and used are recognized based on the excess of the asset’s carrying amount over the fair
value of the asset, while long-lived assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying amount or
fair value less cost to sell. No impairment losses have been recognized to date as of December 31, 2007.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash, accounts receivable,
equipment line of credit, bank line of credit and accounts payable, approximate their fair value because of
their short-term nature.

Guarantees: Indemnified Obligations

The Company’s Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws provide that the Company indemnify its officers
and directors for certain events or occurrences that happen by reason of the fact that the officer or director is,
was, or has agreed to serve as an officer or director of the Company. The term of the indemnification period is
for the officer’s or director’s lifetime. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could
be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited.

Revenues

Usage-based Fees. The Company derives substantially all of its revenues by providing AVM services. It
provides these services under a usage-based pricing model, with prices calculated on a per-message or, more
typically, per-minute basis in accordance with the terms of its pricing agreements with clients. The amount it
charges for AVM calls may vary based upon whether the call is one-way, two-way or agentless and the total
volume of calls by a client during a calendar month, The Company invoices clients on a monthly basis. Its
pricing agreements with clients do not require minimum levels of usage or payments.

Because it provides its solution as a service, the Company recognizes revenue in accordance with
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, Revenue Recognition in
Financial Statements, as amended by SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No, 104, Revenue Recognition. Accord-
ingly, amounts are eamed when all of the following conditions are satisfied: (1) there is persuasive evidence of
an arrangement; (2) the service has been provided to the client; {3) the amount of fees to be paid by the client
is fixed or determinable; and (4) the collection of fees from the client is reasonably assured.

Fees for Ancillary Services. The Company’s client management organization assists clients in selecting
service features and adopting best practices that help clients make the best use of the Company’s on-demand
service. The organization provides varying levels of support through these ancillary services, from managing
an entire campaign to supporting self-service clients. In some cases, ancillary services may be billed to clients
based upon a fixed fee or, more typically, a fixed hourly rate. These billed services typically are of short
duration. The billed services do not involve future obligations and do not provide material value beyond
supporting use of the Company’s on-demand service. The Company recognizes revenue from these billed
services within the calendar month in which the ancillary services are completed.

Revenues attributable to ancillary services represented 1.6%, 2.4% and 4.3% of revenues in the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and are expected to constitute less than 3% of annual
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SOUNDBITE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

revenues for the foreseeable future. Because of their past and anticipated immateriality, revenues attributable
to ancillary services were not presented as a separate line item in the statements of operations,

Research and Development Costs

The Company expenses research and development costs as incurred.

Income Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred tax liabilities and assets for the expected future tax consequences of
events that have been included in the financial statements or tax returns. Under this method, deferred tax
liabilities and assets are determined based upon the temporary differences between the financial reporting and
tax bases of liabilities and assets and for loss and credit carryforwards, using enacted tax rates in effect in the
years in which the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are pravided to the extent that
realization of net deferred tax assets is not considered to be more likely than not. Realization of the
Company’s net deferred tax assets is contingent upon generation of future taxable income. Due to the
uncertainty of realization of the tax benefits, the Company has provided a valuation allowance for the full
amount of its net deferred tax assets.

The Company provides reserves for potential payments of tax to various tax authorities related to
uncertain tax positions and other issues, Prior to January 1, 2007, these reserves were recorded when
management determined that it was probable that a loss would be incurred related to these matters and the
amount of such loss was reasonably determinable. As of January 1, 2007, the Company adopted Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”} Interpretation (“FIN")) No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes” (“Fin No. 487). As a result, reserves are based on a determination of whether and how much of a tax
benefit taken by the Company in its tax filings or positions is more likely than not to be realized following
resolution of any potential contingencies present related to the tax benefit. Potential interest and penalties
associated with such uncertain tax positions is recorded as a component of income tax expense. To date, the
Company has not noted any material uncertain tax positions for which reserves would be required, and as a
result adoption of Fin No. 48 did not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Freestanding Preferred Stock Warrants

Effective January 1, 2006, freestanding warrants and other similar instruments related to shares that are
redeemable are accounted for in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Staft Position
No. 150-5, Issuer’s Accounting under FASB Siatement No. 150 for Freestanding Warrants and Other Similar
Instruments on Shares that are Redeemable (FSP 150-5). Under FSP 150-5, freestanding warrants exercisable
for the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock were classified as a liability on the Company’s
balance sheet as of December 31, 2006. The Company accounted for the adoption of FSP 150-5 as a
cumulative change in accounting with a benefit of $28,000, or $0.05 per share, recorded as of January 1, 2006,
the date of the Company’s adoption of FSP 150-5. In addition, the original carrying value of the warrants,
$332,000 was reclassified to liabilities from redeemable convertible preferred stock. The benefit of $28,000
was calculated as the decrease in fair value of the warrants from the historical carrying value. For the years
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company recorded charges of $352,000 and $177.000, respectively,
for the increase in fair value of the warranits.

Upon the closing of the Company’s initial public offering in November 2007, warrants to purchase shares
of the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock automatically became exercisable to purchase shares
of the Company’s common stock and, as a result, were no longer considered a liability subject to FSP 150-5.
Accordingly, the carrying value of these warrants as of the offering of $834,000 (which also represented fair
value), was reclassified from current liabilities to additional paid-in capital, a component of stockholders’
equity, in the fourth quarter of 2007.
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SOUNDBITE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

Basic and Diluted Income (Loss) Per Share

Income (loss) per share has been computed using the weighted average number of shares of common
stock outstanding during each period. Diluted amounts per share include the impact of the Company’s
outstanding potential common shares, such as options and warrants (using the treasury stock method) and
convertible preferred stock. Potential common shares that are anti-dilutive are excluded from the calculation of
diluted income (loss) per common share. The following table sets forth the components of the computation of
basic and diluted net income (loss) per common share for the years indicated (dollars in thousands, except
share data):

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Numerator;
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders. . $ 429 $ (167) § 1,136
Denominator:
Weighted average shares used in computing net income
(loss} per common share — basic................ 2,859,797 557,063 470,539
Add dilutive securities:
Stock options . ....... ... ... 1,674,284 ’ —_ 249,260
Restricted stock . . ........ . ... ... ... ... ..... 5,078 — 758 .
Common stock warrants. . .............. P 100,170 —_ —
Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred
stock .. 8,138,926 — 8,324,010
Weighted average shares used in computing net income
(loss) per common share — diluted . ... ... ... ... 12,778,255 557,063 9,044,567

Potential common shares excluded from the computation of net income (loss} per common share due to
being anti-dilutive consist of the following:

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Stock OpHONS . .. ... i 85,749 1.954,110 566,966
Restricted stock ... ... ... . e — 7.040 —
Preferred stock warrants ... .......: e S — 151,645 151,645
Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred stock .......... — 9,613,942 —

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company applied the intrinsic value method of accounting for share-based
awards granted to employees. Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (SFAS 123R), on a prospective
basis. SFAS 123R requires the use of a fair value method to account for share-based awards granted to
employees. The Company also accounts for share-based awards to non-employees using the fair value method.

Under the intrinsic value method, compensation associated with stock awards to employees was .
determined as the difference, if any, between the fair value of the underlying common stock on the date
compensation was measured and the price an employee was required to pay to exercise the award. The
measurement date for employee awards was generally the date of grant. Under the fair value method,
compensation associaied with stock awards is determined based on the estimated fair value of the award,
measured using an established option pricing model. The measurement date for employee awards is generally
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SOUNDBITE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

the date of grant. Share-based compensation costs for an employee award are recognized as expense over the
employee’s requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period, on a siraight-linz basis. The
measurement date for non-employee awards is generally the date the performance of services is completed.

The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 123R using the prospective transition method. Under this
transition method, non-vested option awards outstanding at January 1, 2006 continue 10 be accounted for under
the minimum value method allowed under SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. All
awards granted, modified or repurchased on or afier the date of adoption are accounted for using the
measurement, recognition and attribution provisions of SFAS 123R.

The Company has granted stock options to certain consultants and non-employee advisory board members
for a fixed number of shares with an exercise price equal to the fair value of the Company’s common stock at
the date of grant. Compensation expense from non-employee stock options is calculated using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model and is recorded over the vesting period, which approximates the service period.
Total compensation expense related to options granted to non-employees was not material for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 or 2005.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (SFAS 157), which defines
fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. The provisions of SFAS 157 are effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007.
The Company will adopt this standard on January 1, 2008. The standard is not expected to have a material
impact on the Company’s financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities. Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 (SFAS 159). SFAS 159 allows
entities to measure many financial instruments and certain other assets and liabilities at fair value on an
instrument-by-instrument basis (the fair value option). The Company will adopt this standard on January 1,
2008. The standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

In December 2007, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 110 (SAB 110). SAB 110 expresses the
views of the staff regarding the use of the “simplified” method in developing an estimate of expected term of
“plain vanilla” share options and allows usage of the “simplified” method for share option grants prior to
December 31, 2007. SAB 110 allows public companies which do not have historically sufficient experience to
provide a reasonable estimate to continue use of the “simplified” method for estimating the expected term of
“plain vanilla” share option grants after December 31, 2007. The Company currently uses the “simplified”
method to estimate the expected term for share option and will continue to do so until there has been sufficient
historical experience to provide a reasonable estimate of expected term. SAB 110 is effective for the Company
on January 1, 2008.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations™. SFAS No.
141(R) establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial
statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree,
and the goodwill acquired. SFAS No. 141(R) also establishes disclosure requirements to enable the evaluation
of the nature and financial effects of the business combination. The Company will be required to adopt
SFAS No. 141(R) in the first quarter of fiscal year 2009. Adoption of SFAS No. 141(R) will have no effect on
the Company’s reported financial information prior to adoption and will be applicable to any business
combination into which the Company enters after adoption.
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SOUNDBITE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

3. PRrOPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2007 2006

Computer equipment. . . . ... ..ottt 3 years $ 7,733  $6,842
Computer software . . . ... ... ... ., 3 years 3,041 1,720
Fumiture and fixtures . .. .......... ... ... .. ...... 3 years 556 243
Officeequipment . ...... ... .. i, 3 years 402 222
Leasehold improvements. ... .......... ... ... ..... Lesser of useful

life or lease term 539 167
Total .. ... 12,271 9,194
Less — accumulated depreciation and amortization . . . . .. (6,175) (4,747)
Property and equipment, net . . ... ... .. ... $ 6,006 §4,447

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 was $2.9 million,
$1.9 million and $842,000, respectively.

4. Desr

On July 2, 2004, the Company amended its loan and security agreement dated January 4, 2001 10 provide
for a $1.0 million working capital revolving line of credit with a borrowing base of 80% of eligible accounts
receivable. On December 3, 2004, the Company amended this agreement to include a $300,000 line of credit
for equipment (the equipment line). On August 22, 2005 and July 15, 2006, the Company amended this
agreement to increase the equipment line to $2.8 million and $3.8 million, respectively. In connection with the
amendment in 20035, the Company issued warrants to the bank to purchase shares of the Company’s Series D
Convertible Preferred Stock (see Note 8). '

Borrowings under the working capital line bore interest at a rate per annum equal to 1.00% above the
prime rate and were collateralized by certain of the Company’s equipment and all of its accounts receivable,
investment property and financial assets. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the amount outstanding under the
working capital line was $0 and $889,000, respectively. Borrowings for the equipment line bore interest at a
rate per annum equal to 1.50% above the prime rate. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the amount outstanding
under the working capital line was $0 and $2.4 million, respectively.

In July 2007, the Company terminated its then-existing loan and security agreement and refinanced the
then principal outstanding balance of $2.3 million under a new loan and security agreement (the credit
agreement) with a new financial institution, The credit agreement provides for an equipment line of credit up
to $7.5 million and a revolving working capital line of crédit for up 1o the lesser of (a) $1.5 million and
(b) 80% of eligible accounts receivable, subject to specified adjustments. The Company may utilize up to
$1.0 million of the working capital line for the issuance of letters of credit. Borrowings under the equipment
line of credit are payable in installments due through July 2010, and all amounts under the working capital
line of credit are due in July 2008. Borrowings under the equipment line bear interest at a rate per annum
equal to the prime rate plus 0.5% or 1.0%, depending upon the Company’s liquidity, as defined. Borrowings
under the working capital line bear interest al a rate per annum that is 0.25% above the prime rate. All of the
borrowings under the credit agreement are secured by a pledge of certain of the Company’s equipment and all
of its accounts receivable, investment property and financial assets.
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As of December 31, 2007, no amounts were outstanding under the credit agreement and letters of credit

totaling $77,000 had been issued. In addition, the Company has a commitment for a letter of credit totaling
$426,000 for the benefit of the holder of the Company’s new facilities lease.

At December 31, 2007 and 2006 the Company had $0 and $231,000 outstanding under other credit
arrangements with interest rates ranging between 9.3% and 15.8%. These credit arrangements fully expired as
of December 21, 2007.

5. ACCRUED FEXPENSES

Accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):

Dlecember 31,
2007 2006
Accrued payroll related Items . . .. ... .. ... $1,375  $1,152
Accrued telephony . ... ... e 539 333
Accrued professional fees . .. ... ... ... ... 768 138
Accrued rent and related payments* . .. ... L L 199 —
Accrued Other. . ... . e 986 723
Total accrued EXPEISES . . . v v\ v vt e e e e $3,867  $2,546

* See Note 6 below

6. CoMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company has various non-cancelable operating leases, related to its office space and hosting sites,
that expire through 2013. Certain leases have fixed rent escalations clauses and renewal options, which are
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease. Future minimum lease payments under non-
cancelable operating leases at December 31, 2007 were as follows (in thousands):

2008 . e i e e e e e e $1,741
2000 L e e 816
221 3 819
L 856
720 ) U 892
2.8 __6%0
Total future minimum lease payments. . . ... ...ttt e $5.814

Total rent expense for office space charged to operations was $485,000, $439,000 and $223,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Total rent expense for hosting sites charged to
cost of revenues was $1.3 million, $606,000 and $257,000, for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively.

The Company has two lease agreements relating to its former corporate headquarters facilities, both of
which agreements expire in May 2008. These premises were vacated in September 2007. Included in general
and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2007 is a nonrecurring charge of $435,000,
which consists of $318.000 to accrue future rent and certain maintenance charges related to the vacated
premises and $117,000 to write-off fixed assets that were not transferable to the new headquarters. As of
December 31, 2007, future rent and estimated maintenance payable of $199,000 was included in accrued
expenses.
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Litigation and Claims

On October 17, 2007, our counsel and counsel for the underwriters of our initial public offering received
a letter on behalf of Universal Recovery Systems, Inc., or URS, alleging that our on-demand AVM solution
may be in violation of specified patents owned by URS or U.S. patent claims filed by URS in May 2007 in a
pending patent application. On October 23, 2007, URS filed a Statement of Non-Liability in the lawsuit, by
which URS and Blake Rice covenant not to assert any claim of patent infringement against us (or any of our
controlled affiliates, customers or authorized users) under such existing U.S. patents with respect to our on-
demand AVM products currently or previously marketed or sold in the United States. URS’s Statement of
Non-Liability does not address the claims of URS with respect to the specified U.S. patent application or two
U.K. patents specified in the URS letter.

On October 19, 2007, the Company filed a lawsuit in the federal district court in Massachusetts in which
the Company requested a judgment that Universal Recovery Systems, Inc. and its affiliate Blake Rice
improperly interfered with its business, including its initial public offering. In connection with this lawsuit,
pretrial discovery is ongoing. The Company is unable at this time to estimate the likely outcome of this
pending litigation whereby the Company is the plaintiff seeking damages from URS. The Company believes
the costs associated with this litigation will not have a material impact on its financial position or liquidity.

From time to time and in the ordinary course of business, the Company may be subject to various claims,
charges, investigations and litigation. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company did not have any pending
claims, charges, investigations or litigation, including the URS litigation discussed above.
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7. REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

Prior to the initial public offering in November 2007, the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation,
authorized the issuance of up to 46,513,420 shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.001 per share, of
which 2,102,190 shares had been designated as Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series A Preferred
Stock™), 8,398,068 shares had been designated as Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series B Preferred
Stock™), 21,112,997 shares had been designated as Series C Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series C Preferred
Stock™), and 14,900,165 shares had been designated as Series D Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series D
Preferred Stock™). Upon closing of the initial public offering, all 45,779,304 shares of preferred stock then
outstanding were converted into 9,613,942 shares of common stock. Changes in Series A, Series B, Series C
and Series D Preferred Stock for the three years ended December 31, 2007 were as follows (dollars in
thousands, except share data):

Balance. January 1,
2005

Issuance of Series D
Preferred Stock,
net of issuance
costs of $75,968. .

Accretion of
preferred stock for
transaction costs. .

Warrants granted for
equipment line of
credit. . .......

Balance,
December 31,
2005

Accretion of
preferred stock: for
transaction cosls. .

Reclassification of
preferred stock:
warrant hability . .

Balance,
December 31,
2006

Accretion of

preferred stock for
transaction costs. .

Mandatory
conversion to
common stock., , .

Balance
December 31,
2007

Series A Series B Series C Series D Total
Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock
Sres  Vawe© Shares  Vawe®  Shares Ve  Shares Vawe®  Shores Vame
2,055,385 $7229 8380729 $7.353 20,512,821 358037 — § — 30548935 §22619
— — — — _ — 14,830,369 8424 14,830,369 8,424
— 4 — 8 —_ 6 -— 6 - 24
— — — — —_ —_ — 9 — 9
2,055,385 7.233 8380729 736l 20,512.821 8,043 14,830,369 8439 45779304 31076
— 7 — 15 — 11 — 11 — 44
— (113) — 97) — (113) — (9) — (332)
2,055,385 7,127 8380,729 7279 20512821 7941 14,830,369 8,441 45779304 30,788
— & — 13 — 9 — 9 — 37
(2.055,385)  (7.133) (8,380,729 (7,292) (20,512.821) (7,950) (14.830,369) (8.450) (45.779,304) (30.825)
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8. WARRANTS TO PURCHASE REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had outstanding 734,110 warrants to purchase preferred stock
convertible into 151,645 shares of common stock at exercise prices ranging from $0.39 to $3.25 per share of
preferred stock. In connection with the initial public offering in November 2007, and the associated conversion
of the Company’s outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock to common stock, the warrants to purchase
shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock were converted to warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s
common stock. These warrants expire at various dates between November 1, 2008 and November 1, 2010.

Valuations of Warrants

Upon issuing each of the preferred stock warrants, the Company estimated the fair value of the warrant
using the Black-Scholes pricing model and amortized to interest expense the value of the warrant over the life
(or other appropriate term) of the debt or lease agreement with respect to which the warrant was issued. The
Black-Scholes assumptions used by the Company included a fair value of the underlying preferred stock of
$0.39 to $3.25 per share and a life of 7 years. As of December 31, 2005, the carrying value of the warrants
was $332,000, as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2005

Redeemable Convertible . Series A Series B Series C Series D

Preferred Stock Warrants Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Total
Granted for lease agreement. . . . .. $ 63 $— $ — $— $ 63
Granted for bank line of credit. . . . 51 — — — 51
Granted for bank line of credit. . . . — 13 —_ - 13
Granted for bank equipment line . . — 84 — — 84
Granted for bank line of credit. . . . — —_ 65 _— 65
Granted for bank equipment line . . — — 47 -— 47
Granted for bank line of credit. . . . = = = _5 _ 5
Total. .. ... e 5114 £97 5112 $9 $332

Upon its adoption of FSP 150-5 in 2006, the Company reclassified the carrying value of the preferred
stock warrants to a liability and adjusted the warrants to fair value at each reporting peried with any increase
or decrease in fair value reported in other income (expense). The carrying value and fair value of these
warrants of $834,000 was reclassified from current liabilities to additional paid-in capital, a component of
stockholders’ equity, upon the closing of the Company’s initiai public offering (see Note 1).

9. CommoN STocK

Aunthorized Shares

At December 31, 2007, the Company had authorized 75,000,000 shares of common stock, of which
3,718,577 shares were reserved for future issuance as follows:

Warrants to purchase common stock . ..., ... ... L o 151,645
Outstanding options to purchase common stock .. ........ . ... . . 2,176,048
Shares reserved for future Oplion grants . ... ... .. i e 1,390,384

3,718,577

Reverse Stock Split

On August 16, 2007, the Company effected a |-for-5.681818 reverse stock split. All issued and outstanding
shares of common stock and per share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to reflect this reverse stock split.
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Initial Public Offering

On November 6, 2007, the Company completed an initial public offering of 4,947,022 shares of its
common stock, including 230,000 shares sold pursuant to the underwriters’ exercise of their over-allotment
optien on December 35, 2007, at a price of $8.00 per share. Net proceeds to the Company were approximately
$33.5 million after deducting the underwriting discount of $2.8 million and other expenses atiributable 1o the
initial public offering of $3.3 million. Upon the closing of the offering, ail shares of redeemable convertible
preferred stock then outstanding automatically converted into 9,613,942 shares of common stock.

Stock Options
2000 Stock Incentive Plan

Under the Company’s 2000 Stock Option Plan (the 2000 Plan), the Company was permitted to grant
incentive stock options and nonqualified stock options to purchase up to 2,749,083 shares of common stock.
The options generally vest ratably over four years and expire no later than ten years after the date of grant.
Upon completion of the Company’s initial public offering, no further stock options are to be granted under the
2000 Plan.

2007 Stock Incentive Plan

In August 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the SoundBite Communications, Inc. 2007
Stock Incentive Plan (the 2007 Plan), which became effective upon completion of the Company’s initial public
offering. The 2007 Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options, restricted
stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights and other stock-based awards. The number of shares of
common stock that may be issued under the 2007 Plan equals the sum of 1,500,000 shares of commaon stock
plus any shares of common stock subject to awards outstanding under the Company’s 2000 Stock Option Plan
at the time of the closing of the initial public offering which awards expire, terminate, or are otherwise
surrendered, canceled, forfeited or repurchased by-the Company at their original issuance price pursuant to a
contractual repurchase right. In addition, the 2007 Plan provides for an annual increase in the number of
shares available for issuance under the 2007 Plan on the first day of each year from 2008 through 2017, The
options generally vest ratably over four years and expire no later than ten years after the date of grant.

At December 31, 2007, there were 1,390,884 shares available for grant under the 2007 Plan. Stock option
activity under both the 2000 and 2007 Plans during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was
as follows: :

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Number of Exercise Number of Exercise Number of Exercise

Options Price Options Price Options Price

Outstanding — beginning of year ... 1,954,110  $0.570 1,728,272 $0.461 1,285,259 $0.427
Granted . . .................... 299,658 7.596 616,969 0.974 608,415 0.505
Exercised..................... (38,453) 0.404 (121,235) 0.492 (41,947) 0.361
Forfeited .. ................... (39,267) 2.102 (269,896) 0.828 _&1 23,455) 0.363
Outstanding —end of year . . . .. ... 2,176,048 $1.512 1,954,110 $0.570 1,728,272 £0.461
Exercisable —end of year ..... ... 1,438,970  $0.683 1,025,811 $0.466 696,602  $0.491

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005 was $5.29, $0.68, and $0.11, respectively. The intrinsic value of options exercised during the

F-18




SOUNDBITE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $265,000, $539,000 and 30, respectively. The aggregate
intrinsic value of options outstanding as of December 31, 2007 was $11.7 million. The intrinsic value of an
option was calculated as (a) the difference between the fair value as of the Company’s common stock at

December 31, 2007 and the exercise price of the option, multiplied by (b) the number of shares subject to
such option,

Options outstanding that had vested or were expected to vest as of December 31, 2007 was as follows (in
thousands, except per share and share data):

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Number of Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Term (In Years) Value
Vested . ....... ... 1,438,970  $0.683 6.48 $8,947
Expectedtovest. ..................c..... 605,141  $3.132 8.59 $2,280

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2007:

Options Vested and

Currently
Options Outstanding Exercisable
Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average
Remaining Remaining
Number of  Contractual Number of  Contractual
Exercise Price Options Life (Years) Options Life (Years)
$035-3069 ... 1,515,437 6.47 1,262,659 6.23
F101-3495 ... . 407,395 8.45 150,135 8.13
$6.95-F1188 ... ... .. 253,216 9.54 26,176 9.21
Total ..o e 2,176,048 7.19 1,438,970 6.48

Under the 2000 Plan, option recipients are permitted to exercise options in advance of vesting. Any
options exercised in advance of vesting result in the option holders receiving restricted stock, which is then
subject to vesting under the respective option’s vesting schedule. Restricted stock that is not vested is subject
to a right of repurchase by the Company from any option holder who is an employee and who leaves the
Company (either voluntarily or involuntarily), at the original price paid by the option holder at the time the

options were exercised. Under the 2007 Plan, option holders are not permitted to exercise options in advance
of vesting.

The activity of non-vested shares of restricted stock as a result of early exercises of options granted to
employees during 2007 is as follows:

Weighted Average
Grant Date
Non-Vested Shares Shares Fair Value
Non-vested as of January 1, 2007 ... .. ... ... ... . ... . 7,040 $0.49
R0 =L+ S (2,640) 0.49
Non-vested as of December 31,2007 ... ... ... .. . 4,400 $0.49

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS 123R using the prospective transition method of
application; accordingly, prior period financial statements have not been restated. Compensation expense
recognized in 2006 and 2007 included the cost associated with stock options granted on and subsequent to
January 1, 2006. Stock options granted by the Company prior to that time continue to be accounted for in
accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.
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For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company used the Black-Scholes option pricing
model to value option grants and determine the related compensation expense. The assumptions used in
calculating the fair value of stock-based payment awards represent management’s best estimates.

The Company estimates expected volatility based on that of the Company’s publicly traded peer
companies and expects to continue to do so until such time as the Company has adequate historical data. The
comparable peer companies selected are publicly traded companies with similar operations as determined by
the Company’s Board of Directors. Management believes that the historical volatility of the Company’s stock
price does not best represent the expected volatility of the stock price. The Company intends to continue to
consistently use the same group of publicly traded peer companies to determine volatility in the fature until
such time that sufficient information regarding the volatility of its share price becomes available or that the
selected companies are no longer suitable for this purpose.

The risk-free inierest rate used within the Black Scholes model for each grant is equal to the U.S. Treasury
seven-year monthly Treasury bill rate, the term of which approximates the expected life of the option.

The expected term of the opticns granted was determined based on the simplified method in accordance
with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 in which the expected term is equal to the average of the vesting
term and the original contractual term,

SFAS 123R requires that the Company recognize compensation expense for only the portion of options
that are expected to vest. Therefore, the Company has estimated expected forfeitures of stock options with the
adoption of SFAS 123R. The estimated forteiture rate was based upon an analysis of the Company’s historical
data. If the actual number of forfeitures differs from those estimated by management, additional adjustments to
compensation expense may be required in future periods.

The foliowing table provides the assumptions used in determining the fair value of the share-based awards:
Year Ended December 31,

2067 2006
RiskFreeRate......... ... ... ... . ... ... ... 450 -571% 4.37 - 5.08%
Expected Life ....... ... .. ... ... .. ... . ... ... .... 6.02 - 6.25 years  6.02 - 6.25 years
Expected Volatility . . .......... ... ... ... ... ..... 75.3% 78.4%
Expected Dividend Yield ........................... 0% 0%
Forfeiture Rate. . . . ... ... ... ... ... ... . ... . .. .... 17.9% 18.9%

In determining the exercise prices for options granted, the Company’s Board of Directors considered the
fair value of the common stock as of the measurement date. Prior to the Company’s initial public offering, the
fair value of the common stock was determined by the Board of Directors after considering a broad range of
factors, including the illiquid nature of an investment in the Company’s common stock, the Company’s
historical financial performance and financial position, the Company’s future prospects and opportunity for
liquidity events, and sale and offer prices of redeemable convertible preferred stock in private transactions
negotiated at arm’s length. In addition, the Board of Directors considered valuation reports of Shields &
Company, Inc., an independent, third-party investment banking firm, delivered in connection with certain of
the option grant dates during 2006 and 2007. Subsequent to the Company’s initial public offering, the fair
value of the Company’s common stock, as defined in the 2007 Plan, is the closing price of the security as
listed on the Nasdaq securities exchange on the date of grant.

Compensation expense associated with share-based awards amounted to $318,000 and $59,000 for the
years ended Dzcember 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. As of December 31, 2007 the total compensation cost
related 10 stock-based awards granted under SFAS 123R to employees and directors but not yet amortized was
$1.0 million, net of estimated forfeitures. These costs will be amortized on a straight-line basis over a
weighted average period of 3.28 years.
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During the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company recorded $0 and $5,000 of stock-
based compensation related to options granted to non-employees.

As a result of the reverse stock split in 2007 whereby the exercise price and number of options were
adjusted to reflect the split, it was determined that a modification of all outstanding common stock options
had occurred. Under the provisions of FAS 123R, a modification requires the measurement of the fair value of
an equity award both prior to and after the modification. Any incremental fair value would be accounted for as
stock-based compensation. There was no incremental fair value as a result of the modification to the stock
options and no additional compensation expense was recorded.

The following table presents stock-based compensation expense included in the consclidated statements
of operations (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

© 2007 2006

Cost Of FBVENUES . . . . . Lo $ 6 $1
Research and development . ......... ... ... ... . e, 17 6
Sales and marketing . . ... ... .. e 120 28
General and administrative .. ... . 175 _29
Total stock-based compensation. .. ......... ... ... ... i $318 $64

10. IncoMmE Taxes

The Company’s provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are as
follows (in thousands);

Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

CUITENE 1AX EXPENSE . . . . . oot ottt ettt et e et e e et e e e $ 56 $ — § —
Deferred tax expense (benefit) . . ... ... .. ... .. L. (116) 60 145
Research credits generated . . .. ... .. ... ... ... .. .. (162) 4y (144
Net operating losses utilized .. ... ... ... . ... ... ... .. .. ... ... 851 290 639
Valuation allowance increase (decrease) ... ...... ... v, (573) (346) (640
Total . ..o $5% $— §$ —

In 2007 the Company utilized a portion of its net operating loss and credit carryforwards to partially
reduce its tax provision. A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory rate to the Company’s effective tax rate
for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 is as follows:

December 31,
2007 2006 2005
Tax at U.S. federal statutory rate. . ... ...t 34.0% (34.0)% 34.0%
State taxes, net of federal benefit . ........... ... ... ... ... 36 — 6.3
Non-deductible items-meals .. ...... ... . ... ... i 10.9 41.1 23
" Non-deductible items-stock OPHONS. . .. ot e e 13.0 17.4 2.8
Non-deductible Hems-warrants . ... ... ...ttt ii et s 229 42.2 —
Canadian subsidiary loss. . ... ... .. . 0.7 — —
Change in valuation allowance (including use of net operating loss). . ... .. (72.8) (66.7) (45.4)
109% __—% __ —%
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant
components of the Company’s net deferred income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2007 2006

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards. .. ... ... ... ... ... L o i $6,197 37,048
Accounts receivable . . ... L L L e e e e e T 44
ACCIUEd BXPEISES. « . . .ttt i e e e 110 127
Research and development credits. .. .. ...... ... ... .. . i 911 749
Deprecialion . .. ... e e e e 144 38
Deferred tax AS8etS . . . . oot i i e e e et 7.433 8,006
Valuation allowance . . . ... . .. it i e e e (7,433) (8,006)
Total deferred 18X ASSEIS . . o o vttt vttt et s et e e 5§ - 5 —

Income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2007, principally relates to federal alternative
minimum tax and state income tax in states where we did not have net operating loss carryforwards to offset
taxable income.

SFAS 109 requires a valuation allowance to reduce the deferred tax assets reported if, based on the
weight of the evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. After consideration of all the evidence both, positive and negative, management has determined that a
$7.4 million and $8.0 million valuation allowance at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, is necessary
to reduce the deferred tax assets to the amount that will more likely than not be realized. The increase
(decrease) in the valuation allowance was $(573,000), $(346,000) and $(640,000) in the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 respectively.

At December 31, 2007, the Company has available federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $17.0. million and $6.4 million, respectively, which will begin to expire between 2008 and
2027. In addition, the Company has federal and state tax credits of approximately $647,000 and $400,000
respectively, which will expire between 2017 and 2027. Ownership changes, as defined by the Internal
Revenue Code, may substantially limit the amount of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards that can
be utilized annually to offset future taxable income. The Company believes that ownership changes occurred
in 2000 and 2001 and, as a result, may potentialy reduce its net operating loss carryforwards and its tax credits
by $6.8 million and $225,000, respectively. Subsequent ownership changes could further limit the amount of
net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards that can be used in future years. Such annual limitations could
result in the expiration of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards before utilization.

The tax years 2000 through 2006 remain open to examination by major taxing jurisdictions to which the
Company is subject, which are primarily in the United States (“U.S."), as carryforwad attributes generated in
years past may still be adjusted upon examination by the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) or state tax
authorities if they have or will be used in a future period. The Company is currently under examination by the
IRS for the tax year ended December 31, 2006. The Company recognizes both accrued interest and penalties
related to unrecognized benefits in income tax expense. The Company has not recorded any interest or
penalties on any unrecognized tax benefits since its inception. The Company does not believe material
uncertain tax positions have arisen to date, and as a result, no reserves for these matters have been recorded,
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11. BzenenT PLAN

The Company has a retirement savings plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code.
Participants may contribute up to a maximum percentage of their annual compensation to this plan as
determined by the Company, limited to a maximum annual amount set by the Internal Revenue Service. The
Company did not make any matching contributions to this plan during the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005.

12. SUBSEQUENT EVENT (UNAUDITED)

On February 26, 2008, the Company completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Mobile
Collect, Inc. Mobile Collect is a privately held company that provides text messaging and mobile communi-
cations solutions. The acquisition includes cash payments of approximately $500,000 upon closing and
contingent milestone cash payments of up to $2 million. The acquisition will be accounted for as a business
combination and will be recorded in the first quarter of 2008.

13. SeLECTED QUARTERLY FINaANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,

2007 2007 2007 2007
(In thousands except per share data)
Revenues ... ..ot e e $8,761  $9,338  $10,067 $11.326
Cost Of TEBVENUES . . . .\ ot e e et e e e e e e e e 3,165 3,695 3,619 3,780
Grossprofit . ... ... . .. .. i 5,596 5,643 6,448 7.546
Netincome (Joss)(1) . .. ... o vttt i e i (839) 428 277 1,154
Basic earnings per share(1) . . ..................... (1.36) 0.65 (0.44) 0.12
Diluted earnings per share(l). .. ... .. ............. (1.36)  0.03 (0.44) 0.08

Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,

2006 2006 2006 2006
REVENUES . .« o v ettt e e e e, $5,178  $6,998 $7,779 $9,114
Cost Of FeVENUES . . . . it it i e s e e e 1,940 2,088 2,583 2,894
Grossprofit. . ... ... . . e e 3,238 4,910 5,196 6,220
Income (loss) before cumulative change in accounting . . .. (476) 152 10 163
Cumulative change in accounting . .. ................. 28 — — —
Netincome (10Ss)2) .« v v ettt it (448) 152 10 163
Basic earnings per share(2) ........ ... ... (0.91) 0.26 0.00 .23
Diluted earnings per share(2) . . Y (0.91) 0.01 0.00 0.01

(1) Net income (loss) and basic and diluted earnings per share include the effect of (charges) income related
to the change in fair value of the Company’s Preferred Stock Warrants for each of the four quarters ended
December 31, 2007 as follows: ($808,000), $251,000, ($389,000) and $595,000, respectively.

(2) Net income (loss) and basic and diluted earnings per share include the effect of charges of ($177,000)
related to the change in fair value of the Company’s Preferred Stock Warrants for the quarter ended
December 31, 2006.
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PART IV

- Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
The following documents are filed as part of this report:
1. Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are not required or the required information is shown in the
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

The exhibits listed in the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed or incorporz'ated by reference as part of
this filing,

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filed Filing Date Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit Herewith  Form with SEC Number
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the 10-Q November 14, 2007 3.1
Registrant

3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Registrant S-1  OQctober 15, 2007 34

4.1 Specimen certificate for shares of common stock of S-1  October 15, 2007 4.1
the Registrant .

10.1 Lease dated May 18, 2007 between RAR2-Crosby 5-1 October 15, 2007 10.19
Corporate Center QRS, Inc. and the Registrant

10.2 Agreement dated as of August 29, 2003, as amended, S-1  Ociober 15, 2007 10.3

between the Registrant and Internap Network
Services Corporation

10.3 Agreement dated as of October 9, 2004, between the 5-1 October 15, 2007 10.4
Registrant and ColoSpace, Inc.

104 Loan and Security Agreement dated as of July 19, 10-Q November 14, 2007 10.7
2007 between Silicon Valley Bank and the Registrant

10.5 Investors’ Rights Agreement dated as of June 17, S-1 October 13, 2007 42

2005, among the Registrant, the Investors named
therein, John McDonough and David Parker, as

amended

10.61 2007 Stock Incentive Plan of the Registrant S-1  October 15, 2007 10.12

10.7+  Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under S-1  October 15, 2007 10,13
2007 Stock Incentive Plan of the Registrant

10.8f Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement S-1 October 15, 2007 10.14
under 2007 Stock Incentive Plan of the Registrant

10.9%f Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under 2007 S-1  October 15, 2007 10.15
Stock Incentive Plan of the Registrant

10.101 Form of Change in Control Agreement entered into S-1 October 15, 2007 10.16

between the Registrant and each of Christopher
Hemme, Timothy Segall, Peter Shields and
Richard Underwood
10.11% Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into (or 5-1  October 15, 2007 10.17
to be entered inio) between the Registrant and each of
its executive officers and directors from time to time

10.121  Summary of 2007 Management Cash Compensation S-1  October 15, 2007 10.18
Plan

51



Exhibit
Number
10.13%
10,144

21.1
31.1

31.2

32.1

Description of Exhibit

Summary of 2008 Management Cash Compensation
Plan |

Compensation Arrangements with Outside Directors
{effective November 13, 2007)

List of subsidiaries of Registrant

Certification of principal executive officer pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of principal financial officer pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of principal executive officer and
principal financial officer pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. 1350

Incorporated hy Reference

Filed Filing Date Exhibit
Herewith Form with SEC Number
X

10-Q November 14, 2007 10.6

T Management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements required to be filed as an exhibit hereto pur-
suant o Item 15(a) of the Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date; March 14, 2008

SOUNDBITE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

By: /s/ Peter R. Shields

Peter R. Shields

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K
has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the

dates indicated.
Signature

/s/ Peter R. Shields

Peter R, Shields

/s/ Robert C. Leahy

Robert C. Leahy

Title

President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director
{Principal Executive Officer)

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
{Principal Financial Officer)

Date

March 14, 2008

March 14, 2008

Vice President, Finance and Treasurer March 14, 2008
(Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Christopher A. Hemme
Christopher A. Hemme

/s/ Eric R. Giler Director March 14, 2008
Eric R. Giler
fs/ James A. Goldstein Director March 14, 2008

James A. Goldstein

fs/ Justin J. Perreault Director March 14, 2008

Justin J. Perreault

fs/ James J. Roszkowski Director March 14, 2008

James J. Roszkowski

/s/ Regina Q. Sommer Director March 14, 2008

Regina O. Sommer

/s/ Vermon F. Lobo Director March 14, 2008

Vernon F. Lobo
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Board of Directors

(Feia Hilzis Chairman
President and

Chief Executive Officer
SoundBite Communications

EriclGiley)
lamielGoldstein

General Partner
North Bridge Venture Partners

\Vernon]lfobol
Managing Director
Mosaic Ventures

Justinf)¥Perreault]
General Partner
Commonuwealth Capital Ventures

lamechs
President and

Chief Executive Officer
Patria Services Corporation

Reginalo¥sommer,

Corporate Officers

PeterdShields)
President, Chief Executive Officer
and Director

Robertileany
Chief Operating Officer and
Chief Financial Officer

fLimcthylsegall

Chief Technology Officer

IMarkiEriedman]
Chief Marketing and
Business Development Officer

ChristophegHemme)

Vice President, Finance

NoreenlHenrich]
Vice President, Client Management

fAndrewlGilbert

Vice President, Operations

fleftrevlStruzenskil

Executive Vice President of Sales

The Directors and Officers listed are all subject to the reporting

requirements of Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
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Stock Trading Information
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Transfer Agent
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